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During the Second World War, neutral Ireland (then also known as 
Eire) interacted with military internees and prisoners of war both 
inside and outside the island of Ireland: members of the belligerent 
forces incarcerated in Eire, prisoners of war (including Irish) held 
abroad in Europe and Asia, and German prisoners of war detained in 
Northern Ireland, which was still a part of the United Kingdom. As 
a neutral, Eire was required by international law to arrest and intern 
members of the belligerent forces who made landfall in the 26 counties 
and as a result, between 1940 and 1945 a total of 45 Allied aircrew and 
269 Axis airmen and sailors were held at the Curragh military camp. 
The Allied personnel consisted of 31 British, eight Canadians, three 
Poles, one Frenchman, one New Zealander and an American, described 
on the official internee list as ‘Yanks (USA)’.1 The lone American was 
a member of the RAF; no US military personnel were ever interned. 
Situated in county Kildare, around 30 miles from Dublin, the Curragh 
camp was (and remains) the largest military complex in Ireland. First 
constructed in 1855, it served as a military base and police depot until 
it passed into the hands of the Dublin government after the foundation 
of the Irish Free State in 1922. The belligerent internees in the Curragh 
were initially classed as prisoners of war, in order for the government 
to extend the 1907 Hague and 1929 Geneva Conventions to them, and 
also to establish a basis for their treatment: what food, clothes and 
medical treatment they were entitled to, where and how they were 
to be detained, whether they had to work or not and what privileges 
the government could offer them. Apart from a brief period between 
August and October 1940, they were not actually treated as prisoners 
of war and were granted an extensive range of concessions, such as 
permission to leave the camp on parole. From 1942 onwards, when 
Dublin altered the legislative basis of its belligerent interment regime, 
they were categorised as ‘military internees’ and all references to them 
as ‘prisoners of war’ were dropped.

There were, in fact, two internment camps at the Curragh during the 
war. No.1 internment camp, known amongst its inmates as ‘Tintown’, 
was reserved for IRA members and other republican detainees, interned 
under emergency law for the duration of the war. The second, No.2 
internment camp – also known as ‘K-Lines’ – was where the belligerent 
personnel were held. K-Lines was divided into two sections: ‘B’ camp 
for Allied prisoners and ‘G’ camp for the Axis.2 The identifiers ‘B’ and 
‘G’ were originally applied when there were just British and German 
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personnel interned, but they remained even after different nationalities 
began to enter the Allied compound.

A further issue for the de Valera government to grapple with were 
the thousands of German prisoners of war who were held in camps in 
Northern Ireland during 1944–45, and whose presence had the potential 
to cause serious difficulties for Dublin. As part of the UK, Northern 
Ireland took part in the conflict, but because of the complicated politi-
cal and security situation there, prisoners of war were not held in Ulster 
until late in the war when the British government had no choice owing of 
the lack of accommodation in Britain. When considering the internee/
prisoner of war issue, the Dublin government devoted the bulk of its 
time to K-Lines and the belligerent internees held there; as a neutral, it 
could do little to intervene on behalf of Irish prisoners of war abroad, 
and Germans arrived in Northern Ireland only at the very end of the 
war. This book reflects this reality. While it explores the attitude of the 
de Valera government towards prisoners of war both on the island of 
Ireland and outside, it concentrates mainly on the belligerent internment 
policy and the military internees within K-Lines and subsequent camps.

Running through the internment and prisoner of war issues like 
a thread was the emphasis placed by Dublin on their international 
importance. The fact that Ireland was detaining members of the armed 
forces of the warring powers carried obvious diplomatic consequences. 
Representatives of the belligerents were frequent visitors to the camp, 
and the detainees had regular and unsupervised access to their consular 
officials. Any allegations of mistreatment or dissatisfaction with life in the 
camp could quickly escalate into an international incident. Accordingly, 
the de Valera government took great care to ensure that K-Lines (and 
other subsequent belligerent camps) did not become a point of conten-
tion between Ireland and the warring powers. The wide range of liberties 
given to the internees, both Allied and German, was partly driven by 
the need to avoid friction with the belligerent nations. Although the 
Department of Defence and the Irish military had primary responsibility 
for guarding the camp, it was the Department of External Affairs which 
had the final say on issues such as parole, living conditions and punish-
ments. De Valera – who was both Taoiseach and Minister for External 
Affairs throughout the war – and top-rank officials within External 
Affairs such as secretary Joseph Walshe, assistant secretary Frederick 
Boland and legal advisor Michael Rynne were all closely involved in the 
running of K-Lines, as were the German and Allied ministers in Dublin.
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Furthermore, Ireland’s relationship with the Allies, in particular the 
United States, altered the belligerent internment regime as the war went 
on. After America entered the conflict, the Irish government made a 
decision not to intern US aircrew under any circumstances, and used 
the convenient fiction of distinguishing between ‘operational’ and ‘non-
operational’ flights to achieve this. All American personnel who made 
landfall in Ireland were freed, regardless of the circumstance of their 
arrival. This imbalance soon led to pressure from London for the same 
consideration, which eventually led to the release of all Allied internees in 
two batches, the first in October 1943 and the second in June 1944. From 
1942 onwards, despite a handful of RAF personnel still being detained 
after landing, Dublin operated its belligerent internment regime almost 
entirely in favour of the Allies. Berlin was unable to prevent this as its 
military and diplomatic position eroded rapidly from 1943. Seen from 
this point of view, internment of belligerent personnel was embedded 
within neutrality and was altered accordingly as Ireland leaned heavily 
towards the Allies as the war went on.

The Second World War was not the first time foreign military person-
nel were imprisoned in Ireland. In 1915, during the First World War, 
2,300 German prisoners of war were held in Richmond Barracks in 
Tipperary, in what is now the training college of the Garda Síochaná 
(Irish police force).3 This predated Irish independence and the Irish 
Free State did not come into existence until December 1922. Ironically, 
some of these men ended up interacting with an Irish member of the 
RAF who was shot down in March 1945 and captured by the Germans.4 
With no previous experience of imprisoning foreign military personnel, 
during the Second World War the Irish government initially relied on 
international conventions regarding prisoners of war. However, Dublin’s 
policy evolved as the war went on and by 1942 the de Valera government 
was confident enough to move away from international prisoner of war 
regulations and establish a new legislative foundation for interning 
belligerents, based on Irish emergency law. Again, diplomatic consid-
erations were consistently prioritised over the strict implementation of 
international law in the Irish attitude towards belligerent internees and 
the internment system as a whole. In this, Ireland was not alone and all 
European neutrals tailored their belligerent internment regimes to suit 
their own particular situations. In reality, only Switzerland adhered to 
international law; instead the rest, like Ireland, ignored it when it was to 
their advantage.
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Prisoners of war, whether they were Irish citizens in the British forces 
or Germans in Northern Ireland, also posed a series of problems for the 
de Valera government during the war. Dublin’s ability to intercede on 
behalf of Irish prisoners of war was extremely limited. Indeed, it was 
a topic that Dublin was sometimes keen to avoid. In any case, Dublin 
had no legal authority to intervene on behalf of Irish citizens in military 
captivity and a very small diplomatic network to operate through. The 
government only really became concerned when there were potential 
diplomatic concerns, such as German attempts to recruit Irish prisoners 
for anti-British activities. There were also routine issues such as Irish 
families sending letters and packages from Ireland to their relatives in 
captivity and the very sensitive question of German prisoners of war 
escaping from Northern Ireland and the continent to seek refuge in the 
26 counties. When dealing with the latter, which had the potential to 
severely damage the Irish-British relationship, Dublin shelved inter-
national neutral practice entirely and created its own policy, which 
was veiled in secrecy and shielded from both the press and the Irish 
parliament.

One of the greatest misconceptions regarding K-Lines was that it was 
a prisoner-of-war camp. It was not and was never intended to be one. 
Dublin’s motivations for arresting and detaining belligerent personnel 
were completely different from the warring powers’ rationale for captur-
ing enemy personnel. It was not remotely in de Valera’s, or Ireland’s, 
interest to treat the military internees as prisoners of war. The conces-
sions the internees enjoyed during the war were mirrored across neutrals 
in Europe, particularly in Sweden and Switzerland, both of which held 
many more belligerent personnel than Ireland. Stephen Tanner has 
observed that US aircrew joked about the easy life of Allied internees in 
Switzerland, but many who ended up in Swiss custody were disappointed 
to find that food was rationed and lacking in material comforts.5 Indeed, 
Richard Overy has suggested that a slump in USAF morale contributed 
to 89 bomber crews choosing to land in either Sweden or Switzerland 
during March and April 1944 alone,6 as Allied losses were running at 
high levels and German resistance refused to crack. Dublin deliberately 
attempted to model its military internment regime on the Swedish and 
Swiss examples, and there are repeated references in Irish government 
documents to how both these countries treated their belligerent intern-
ees. De Valera’s decision to release Allied personnel as the war neared 
its end was also in step with other neutrals. Sweden, Turkey, Spain and 
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Portugal all set Allied internees free as German defeat became more and 
more obvious. The extant literature on the belligerent internees in Ireland 
almost entirely overlooks this, instead treating K-Lines as if it was some 
sort of anomaly or as a typically Irish solution to the internment prob-
lem. The aim of this work is to place the belligerent internment regime 
in Ireland into its proper context, alongside other European neutrals, 
and to steer it away from comparisons with prisoners of war, which are 
pointless and do not offer us any real insights. Its dual argument is that 
diplomatic considerations were uppermost in de Valera’s mind when 
implementing belligerent internment policy, and that the life of the 
men in K-Lines was not unlike those detained in belligerent internment 
camps across neutral Europe.

Misconceptions abound in the literature concerning military intern-
ment in Ireland during the Second World War. T. Ryle Dwyer’s Guests 
of the State described K-Lines as a species of concentration camp7 and 
reads more like a novel than a work of history. However, one of its most 
useful aspects is that the author carried out interviews with many of the 
men in the camp, and the Irish army officers guarding them, although 
this is somewhat overshadowed by the author’s insistence on recreating 
spoken dialogue between the men and the lack of references in the text. 
Despite these frustrating flaws, it remains a worthwhile work, particu-
larly when combined with his broader book on Irish-US relations during 
the war, Behind the Green Curtain, in which belligerent internment is 
also addressed. Ralph Keefer’s Grounded in Eire is another which deals 
with the experiences of Allied internees and, although it is based on the 
experiences of an internee in the Curragh who eventually escaped, it is 
effectively a work of fiction, filled with crude (and sometimes offensive) 
Irish stereotypes, unfeasibly snappy dialogue between the characters and 
overstated action sequences.8

The enduring narrative of the camp at K-Lines is one of an incongru-
ous oasis in the middle of the European war, an oddity which could only 
happen in Ireland, where the internees whiled away their days in idle 
luxury, playing sport, drinking in pubs and enjoying the hospitality of the 
local population. The roots of this can be traced back to a series of articles 
in the Toronto Star newspaper in 1943, written by one of the internees, 
John Calder. In them, he described the belligerent internees as having 
an easy-going and indolent lifestyle;9 his description of life in the camp 
was so laidback that it caused anger amongst some of his fellow Allied 
internees,10 who were worried that they were being depicted as dodging 
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the war. Calder’s narrative has never truly been updated. More recently, 
British broadcaster Dan Snow depicted the internees’ life as consisting 
of ‘Fishing excursions, fox hunting, golf and trips to the pub in Naas’11 
while in 2013, the Daily Express described the Curragh as the ‘cushiest 
POW camp’ and ‘some kind of Wonderland in which the Second World 
War had been reduced to a minor rivalry about which side of a pub to sit 
in’.12 Even Robert Fisk, whose excellent book, In Time of War, remains a 
standard text on Irish neutrality and the Anglo-Irish relationship during 
the war, falls into the same trap, describing the Curragh as ‘congenial’ 
and a place that resembled a ‘resort’ rather than an internment camp.13

There is a much smaller body of literature concerning Irish men and 
women who were held captive by the Axis. The one work that is consist-
ently quoted, as it remains the only book on the topic, is Robert Widders’ 
The Emperor’s Irish Slaves: Prisoners of the Japanese in the Second World War. 
This book makes little attempt to be impartial or objective and is writ-
ten in a highly emotional tone. The author calculates that 650 Irish were 
prisoners of war in Asia,14 but given the statistical anomalies present in 
other sections of the work, this figure cannot be relied upon. For exam-
ple, Widders confidently states that four per cent of those Irish held as 
prisoners of war by Germany died in captivity;15 however, a much more 
reliable source, Max Hastings, suggests that four percent of all British 
and American prisoners of war died while in German custody.16 In 1945, 
the British government estimated that 1000 repatriated prisoners of war 
were from Ireland,17 which suggests that Widders’ figure for Irish prison-
ers in the Far East is too low. Unfortunately, the government document 
does not include a breakdown of whether these returning prisoners were 
in German or Japanese custody. One final odd feature of Widders’ work 
is that he attempts to draw a bizarre and entirely inappropriate parallel 
between the payment of compensation to former prisoners of war by the 
British and Japanese governments in the 1950s, and a personal injuries 
case taken by an American woman against the McDonalds fast-food 
chain in 2011.18 Of much more use to the researcher are the small but 
steadily growing body of Irish prisoner of war memoirs. While making 
use of literature, this work will concentrate on the Dublin government 
and its attempts to deal with the issues raised by military internees and 
prisoners of war, both inside and outside Ireland, rather than on indi-
vidual prisoners or internees.

On a broader level, a study of this kind illustrates the de Valera govern-
ment’s difficulty in dealing with the war itself. As will be illustrated, in 
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spite of the decision to remain neutral during the conflict, little prepara-
tory work had been done before the outbreak of war either on belligerent 
internees or Irish prisoners of war. Despite repeated incursions into Irish 
airspace and several landings by British aircraft, it was not until the fall 
of France in June 1940 that the Irish government directed any serious 
attention towards its internment regime. Even then, the first internees 
were not detained until August 1940 and the crash of a Luftwaffe FW-200 
in county Kerry sparked a debate on how they would be accommodated 
and the conditions they would live in, despite the war almost being a 
year old at that point. Likewise, regardless of the fact that Irish volunteers 
were streaming out of the country to join the British forces, no thought 
had been given to the consequences should they be captured, which 
would have an obvious impact on their families still in Ireland. Official 
positions on the despatch of parcels to prisoners of war or who was 
responsible for providing information to the relatives of Irish prisoners 
had not even been considered, and policy on issues such as these would 
be not set until well into the war. As a consequence, in dealing both with 
belligerent internees and Irish prisoners of war, the government consist-
ently improvised throughout the war, sometimes adapting or copying 
British policies, or seeking advice from fellow neutral countries. While 
the attitude towards K-Lines became relatively consistent from 1942 
onwards, the government’s reaction to prisoners abroad was erratic.

Finally, Ireland’s relationship with military internees and prison-
ers of war illustrates that while Eire was neutral, it was certainly not 
disconnected from the conflict. The de Valera government interacted 
constantly with representatives of the warring powers on issues 
regarding internment; de Valera himself attended conferences on the 
living conditions and parole arrangements for military internees. On 
several occasions, the German and British ministers in Dublin, seek-
ing changes to the Irish internment system, directly approached him 
and the Department of External Affairs. Likewise, there was a constant 
flow of information between Dublin, the Red Cross and the belligerent 
countries as relatives and friends attempted to find information about 
Irish prisoners of war abroad, or send them letters and post. While 
discussing the question of Irish parcels for prisoners of war in 1943, 
the legal advisor to the Department of External Affairs, Michael Rynne 
emphasised just how complex Ireland’s connection to the war was. He 
created a list of hypothetical recipients for prisoner packages sent from 
Ireland, including:
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An Englishman with Irish friends imprisoned in a German military camp 
(ii) an Irish lady with no passport, interned in France (iii) an Irish member 
of the New Zealand forces imprisoned in Italy (iv) an Irish mining engineer 
suspected of helping the British at Singapore in Japanese hands (v) a British 
officer in the Curragh (vi) a German civilian in Arbour Hill19 (vii) a French 
(Vichy) military prisoner of War, with friends in Ireland (viii) a Jewish lady in 
the Isle of Man with relatives in the South Circular Road.20

Far from lurking in Plato’s cave, to use FSL Lyons’ pithy but now outdated 
phrase,21 both the belligerent internee and the prisoner of war issue 
demonstrate that neutral Ireland was closely linked to the war.
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1
Locking Them Up: 
Internment, Prisoners of 
War and International Law

Abstract: One of the fundamental problems faced by the de 
Valera government when dealing with military internment 
during the Second World War was how to apply international 
law, such as the 1907 Hague and 1929 Geneva conventions, 
to the Irish situation. Having had no previous experience of 
detaining belligerent personnel, neutral Ireland was initially 
content to apply international law to the internees, but 
moved away from this from 1942 onwards, when military 
internment was rooted in Irish emergency law, before circling 
back to international agreement in 1949. This chapter charts 
the evolution of Irish thinking on the legal basis of belligerent 
internment, as well as focusing on the way in which the 
internees were classified as prisoners, but not treated as such.

Keywords: emergency law; 1929 Geneva Convention; 
1907 Hague Convention; international law; internment; 
prisoners of war

Kelly, Bernard. Military Internees, Prisoners of War  
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In a note to the Defence Forces Adjutant-General in August 1940, 
Colonel Liam Archer of G2 (Irish military intelligence) made a tell-
ing mistake. His letter concerned the conditions in which the first few 
German belligerent personnel were living in after being transferred to 
K-Lines and, when referring to them, Archer wrote ‘German P.O.W.’, 
which he then crossed out and replaced with ‘internees’.1 His confusion 
was understandable. The Irish government and military had no previ-
ous experience of detaining military personnel from other countries, 
and they had little idea how to classify them or how they were to be 
treated according to international law. Prior to the Second World War, 
the duties and obligations of neutral countries as regards the internment 
of belligerent personnel during wartime were set out in the 1907 Hague 
Convention. This stated that ‘A neutral Power which receives on its 
territory troops belonging to the belligerent armies shall intern them, as 
far as possible, at a distance from the theatre of war’, defining places of 
internment as camps, ‘fortresses or in places set apart for this purpose’.2 
The experience of the First World War showed that this simple formula-
tion was inadequate to deal with the complex question of over-flights 
and landings by belligerent aircraft in neutral countries. Dwight S. 
Meares has observed that between 1914 and 1918, some neutrals released 
belligerent aircrew if they had become lost during flight, as Norway did 
with a German airship crew in 1915, while others, such as Switzerland, 
often refused to do so.3 In 1923, some clarity was brought to this issue 
when the General Report of the Hague Commission of Jurists upon 
the Revision of the Rules of Warfare categorically stated that a ‘neutral 
government shall use the means at its disposal to intern any belligerent 
military aircraft which is within its jurisdiction after having alighted for 
any reason whatsoever, together with its crew and the passengers, if any’; 
however, it also suggested that neutral countries could make exceptions 
when belligerent aircraft were in distress, lost, experiencing engine diffi-
culties or running out of fuel.4

Further regulations regarding the treatment of prisoners of war were 
laid out in the 1929 Geneva Convention Relative to the Treatment of 
Prisoners of War. Although Ireland signed the convention in July 1929, 
it did not ratify it, along with eight other countries such as Cuba, the 
Dominican Republic, Finland, Iran, Japan, Luxemburg, Nicaragua and 
Uruguay.5 During the Second World War, the Japanese government 
announced that it would apply the 1929 convention to prisoners in its 
custody, but reserved the right to make exceptions for certain nationalities 
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and races.6 The duty of a neutral to detain belligerent personnel was reaf-
firmed in the 1939 Draft Convention on Rights and Duties of Neutral 
States in Naval and Aerial War’.7 Thus, when the Second World War 
broke out in September 1939, there was a relatively firm legal framework 
instructing neutral states that they were under an obligation to intern 
members of belligerent forces but, crucially, there was little guidance on 
how to actually implement this policy, or how military internees were to 
be treated once detained.

Perhaps because of this, in the early part of the war, Dublin to all 
intents and purposes did not have an internment policy and was 
unprepared for the issue. No decision had been made on where or how 
belligerent personnel would be detained, or even if they would be. With 
British forces stationed in Northern Ireland, Irish members of the forces 
constantly circulating around Ireland on leave, thousands of reserv-
ists in the country and constant British air and naval activity around 
Ireland, it was clear that a firm internment policy would create signifi-
cant difficulty for Dublin. If international rules were strictly enforced, 
Irish camps would rapidly fill up with personnel from the British and 
Commonwealth militaries, some of which would undoubtedly have 
been Irish themselves. During September 1939, several British seaplanes 
touched down in Irish waters and had extensive interactions with the 
local population and Gardaí; in one case, the pilot used the telephone 
in a Garda station8 and in another a local mechanic helped repair the 
aircraft.9 The government’s lack of urgency reflected its attitude towards 
the war in general in this period. Despite declaring neutrality, prepara-
tions for the conflict were leisurely to say the least. For instance, the 
Defence Forces continued to recruit along peacetime lines: between 1 
September 1939 and 31 May 1940, the army increased by 191 men and the 
reserve Volunteer Force only by 552.10

The one area in which the government acted relatively speedily was 
to move against the Irish Republican Army (IRA), which was known to 
have contacts with the German secret services. During the war, Berlin 
sent funds and 12 agents to Ireland to make contact with the IRA;11 the 
majority of them were so hopelessly inept that they were captured within 
a few days or even hours. The most successful, Herman Goertz, spent 
18 months on the run before being arrested in November 1941. The IRA 
had, somewhat farcically, declared war on Britain in January 1939; the 
subsequent bombing campaign on the British mainland was much more 
serious, killing seven and wounding 200.12 This led to mounting pressure 
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on the de Valera government to crack down on militant Irish republi-
cans. Once war was declared, the Emergency Powers Act was passed by 
the Dáil and gave the de Valera government an extensive array of special 
powers. In December 1939 the IRA raided the Magazine Fort in the 
Phoenix Park, the Irish army’s main munitions reserve, and escaped with 
around one million rounds of ammunition. As Colonel Dan Bryan of G2 
noted after the war, the Magazine Fort raid was the ‘Irish Pearl Harbour’13 
and afterwards the government moved decisively to suppress the IRA. 
After an early attempt to use the Special Criminal Court to detain repub-
licans was struck down by the High Court, internment of republicans 
and IRA members under emergency law was introduced on 4 January 
1940.14 Internment under emergency legislation had the advantage, 
from the perspective of the government, of being exempt from judicial 
scrutiny15 and No.1 internment camp at the Curragh was opened shortly 
afterwards, in May 1940. Republicans were also held at other locations 
such as Arbour Hill, Mountjoy and Portlaoise prisons. Over 1500 repub-
lican internees passed through the gates of Tintown, but the high level 
of transfers and releases meant that its highest monthly occupation was 
547 in March 1943. Early in the war, the subject of the IRA and possible 
belligerent internments were connected by the Department of Defence; 
it noted that according to international guidelines shipwrecked sailors 
washing ashore in a neutral country would not necessarily have to be 
interned and it was feared that German agents would pose as distressed 
sailors to land in Eire, and subsequently attempt to join forces with the 
IRA. Defence urged the government to make a swift decision on bellig-
erent service personnel, arguing that ‘any course other than internment, 
possibly with the privilege of leaving the country within a stipulated 
period to avoid internment, may prove disastrous.’16 In spite of this, little 
was done to prepare for the arrival of any potential belligerent internees.

The German attack on Western Europe in May 1940 and the unex-
pectedly swift fall of France in June forced a reappraisal of the belligerent 
internment policy. Writing on 24 June 1940, Michael Rynne, the legal 
advisor at the Department of External Affairs, suggested a radical new 
direction in Irish policy. He recommended that the porous border with 
Northern Ireland should be sealed off to prevent refugees from crossing, 
while members of the belligerent forces should also be apprehended:

Whether these arrive over the Border, or by air and sea, they should be 
interned until the end of hostilities. This applies to land forces who may 
take refuge here having been routed in Ulster, to naval ratings shipwrecked 
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on our shores and to airmen forced to land on our territory for any reason. 
Consequently, preparations should be made to accommodate internees in 
camps established as far as possible from the war zone.17

Rynne’s attitude was a mixture of examples drawn from recent events in 
Europe and adherence to international law. The possibility that British 
forces would seek sanctuary in Eire after being ‘routed in Ulster’ was 
more than likely a reference to the Swiss practice in 1940 of interning 
French troops who crossed the Swiss border and sought asylum rather 
than surrender to the Germans.18 At the same time, Rynne’s memo 
reflected the main thrust of the 1907 Hague Convention, in particular its 
stipulation that belligerent internees be held at a safe distance from the 
combat area. His intervention came at a time when the focus of the war 
was shifting away from France towards Britain. The German air assault 
against Britain resulted in a surge of belligerent aircraft in and around 
Irish airspace, meaning that it was only a matter of time before one 
eventually made landfall. The Coast Watching Service reported that the 
number of belligerent aircraft observed jumped from 50 in April 1940 to 
896 in August, of which 60 were spotted inland.19

De Valera was forced into formulating a clear stance on belliger-
ent internment on 20 August 1940, when a Luftwaffe FW-200 Condor 
crashed on a mountainside in county Kerry. The crew of six were taken 
into custody, given medical treatment in Cork and Tralee before eventu-
ally being transported to the Curragh. Following on from his advice in 
June, Rynne wrote on 21 August that the Hague Convention regarding 
prisoners of war was ‘now generally believed to be appropriate to the 
treatment of internees, members of the belligerent forces who fell into 
the hands of a neutral,’ therefore ‘it seems sufficiently clear that we must 
intern German crew of the bomber which has just been forced to land 
in Kerry’.20 The papers of Colonel Dan Bryan also illustrate that this was 
the turning point in Irish internment policy: the Coastal and Aerial 
Intelligence section noted that ‘Since August all belligerent airmen land-
ing in our territory have been interned’.21 Before the Germans crashed in 
Kerry on 20 August, no preparations had been made to house belligerent 
internees. A list of possible internment camp locations in the Irish mili-
tary archives is dated 22 August 1940 and contains a mixture of castles 
and large houses,22 some of which were owned by former members of 
the British military. The final order from Liam O’hAodh, the military 
Adjutant-General, to transfer the men to K-Lines was made nine days 
after the Germans crash-landed.23
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Furthermore, it was clear that the government, despite having almost 
a full year to prepare for the eventuality, had no idea how to actually treat 
these men once they were incarcerated. For advice, de Valera turned to 
Dr Richard Hayes, the Director of the National Library and advisor to 
G2, who on 31 August noted that

When considering the form, place and conditions of internment it should be 
noted that international law does not make a distinction between prisoners 
of war captured by a belligerent and armed forces of a belligerent interned 
by a neutral. It is clear from the Hague Conventions of 1907 that “internees” 
if not “prisoners of war” are in the same position as “prisoners of war” and 
that, mutatis mutandis, the rules governing the treatment of each class are 
the same. In the case of “prisoners of war”, the belligerent capturing them 
does not want them to return to his enemy’s forces and so detains them 
forcibly. In the case of internees, the neutral is under an obligation imposed 
on him by the duty of impartiality not to permit the internees to rejoin their 
own forces. The motives for detention are different in each case but the duty 
to detain and the method of detainment are the same.
We can therefore regard internees in all matters in the position of “pris-
oners of war”. This enables us to apply to them the rules laid down in the 
Hague Convention of 1907 except in so far as they have been modified by 
the International Convention relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War, 
Geneva, 1929.24

This opinion was founded on solid European precedent. In April 1940 
the International Red Cross, recognizing that there were no regulations 
on how military internees were to be treated by neutral countries, wrote 
to all European neutrals urging them to apply the 1929 prisoner of war 
provisions to belligerent internees.25 This was adopted by most states, 
but both Sweden and Switzerland protested against this. Switzerland 
in particular argued that the extension of prisoner of war regulations 
to military internees was in itself a breach of international law26 and all 
through the conflict belligerent personnel in Switzerland were subject to 
Swiss national law.

However, the stance taken by the Red Cross was accepted by most 
other neutrals and also by the United States once it entered the war in 
December 1941. The US Legation in Switzerland argued that American 
internees were ‘in a position analogous to that of prisoners of war’.27 
Hayes’ advice to the Irish government was similar to Rynne’s in June; 
both were content to frame the internment policy within the parameters 
set by international law and argued that treating belligerent internees 
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as prisoners of war allowed Dublin to extend the full protection of the 
Hague Convention to them. Despite the fact that they were classed as 
prisoners, they were never treated as such, apart for a very brief period in 
September–October 1940. Applying international agreements to bellig-
erent internees allowed the Irish government to establish a baseline on 
how to treat the service personnel: what standard of food to provide, 
what liability the State had to provide clothes and medical treatment to 
them. In addition, as the document did not actually refer to internees 
in neutral countries, it was up to Dublin how far to apply it to them. 
As Rynne wrote in May 1942, the convention provided ‘very valuable 
criterion’ in dealing with military internees and the government should 
view it as a flexible structure upon which to build its own distinct policy. 
As he noted

We cannot go far wrong if we (1) reject the provisions which imply hard-
ship on the interned men ... and (2) apply generously those provisions which 
endeavor to protect the welfare of the detained persons.28

‘For “prisoner of war” in the Convention’, he wrote a fortnight later, ‘one 
must always read “internee.” ’29 Both he and Hayes were in agreement 
that, although prisoner of war conventions could be applied to them, 
military internees were not actually prisoners.

However, the initial classification as prisoners briefly affected the lives 
of the early internees. The Irish military controlled the camp and the 
prisoners were guarded by the Irish Defence Forces Póilíní Airm (PA: 
military police). The Irish military felt that the internees needed to be 
held under very heavy security, a situation which lasted until October 
1940, when de facto control of the camp passed from the Department of 
Defence to the Department of External Affairs. This was done in order 
to allow the government more flexibility in handling the diplomatic 
aspects of internment, and the restrictions on the internees were eased 
considerably. Hayes’ judgment on how they could be classified was 
also quite prescient. The 1949 Geneva Convention on Prisoners of War 
stated that belligerent internees in neutral countries were to be treated 
as well as prisoners of war were. However, as an Irish review of the 1949 
Convention noted in 1954, belligerent internees were not to be officially 
classified as prisoners, but that their conditions of internment could not 
be worse than prisoners of war in belligerent countries.30

The issue of Irish prisoners of war in Axis custody was much clearer 
for the de Valera government. Dublin had neither legal standing nor 
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any power to intervene on behalf of Irish members of the Allied forces, 
prisoners or otherwise. In March 1940, External Affairs declined to 
help an Irish family secure their son’s release from the New Zealand 
Expeditionary Force; assistant secretary of the department Frederick 
Boland wrote that

Our general practice in this type of case shd. be based on the principle that 
Irish citizens who have enrolled themselves in, and made themselves subject 
to the discipline of, foreign armed forces cannot look to the Irish Govt. 
for diplomatic protection or assistance against the military authorities to 
whom they have become subject in relation to matters connected with their 
service.31

In a similar vein, responding to a letter from an Irish member of the 
Women’s Auxiliary Air Force (WAAF) in September 1942, the secre-
tary of the Department of External Affairs, Joseph Walshe, noted that 
although her status as a citizen of Eire remained unchanged by her 
joining the British forces, she ‘may be regarded as having voluntarily 
relinquished Irish diplomatic protection by enrolling in the W.A.A.F’.32 
In 1943, two Irish members of the British forces who had been arrested 
after crossing illegally into Spain contacted the Irish Legation. They 
were held in the camp at Miranda de Ebro, where all foreigners who had 
escaped German occupied Europe and arrested in Spain were detained. 
Generally, British troops who were sent here were detained only for a 
number of weeks before arrangements could be made for their repatria-
tion.33 Although Michael Rynne at External Affairs was of the opinion 
that the Irish Legation had a duty to help the men,34 the government 
declined to assist them. In an interesting example of how the military 
internees in the Curragh had an effect on Irish prisoners overseas, the 
Irish attitude towards the men in Spain was derived from the experi-
ence of the lone American in K-Lines. Roland Wolfe, a volunteer in the 
RAF, crashed in Ireland in late 1941 and was interned; because he was 
in the British forces, all correspondence and contact regarding his case 
came through the British authorities. As Boland noted, when he escaped 
from the Curragh in December 1941 in dubious circumstances, it was 
the British and not the Americans who decided to return him to Irish 
custody,35 and this provided Dublin with a useful precedent to use. The 
official reply to the Madrid Legation stated that

The diplomatic protection of Irish citizens, who have served in the British 
Forces, does not fall upon the Irish Representatives abroad and we have 
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observed that, as between the British and American authorities here, diplo-
matic protection of members of the R.A.F., who are American citizens, rests 
with the British authorities.36

In the case of Irish prisoners in the British forces, any interventions had 
to be made either by the International Red Cross or by Switzerland, 
which was the protecting power of both German and British prisoners 
of war.37 On one occasion, de Valera attempted to prevent the execu-
tion of an Irish prisoner of war, who had escaped the destruction of his 
British unit in France during 1940 and was eventually captured in civil-
ian clothes by the Germans after attempting to rob a French inn during 
April 1942. Joseph Walshe sent a message to the Irish Legation in Berlin, 
asking that they ‘Do everything possible to have sentence remitted.’38 
The Legation contacted the German authorities directly and found that 
the Swiss, as protecting power, had already been dealing with the issue. 
The death sentence was eventually revoked, but it is unlikely that this 
was because of the involvement of Dublin; the Swiss Legation told their 
Irish counterparts in Berlin that ‘no prisoner of war condemned to 
death has been executed’.39 The lack of influence Ireland had was shown 
by the fact that Dublin relied almost entirely on the Swiss for informa-
tion regarding the prisoner, and could do little for him.

When contacted by Martin Brennan, a Fianna Fáil TD for Sligo, 
regarding a possible exchange of prisoners of war, Joseph Walshe replied 
that any ‘exchange would be entirely a matter for the country in whose 
Armed Forces he was serving at the time of his capture, and the Irish 
government would have no locus standi in this matter’.40 Once Japan 
entered the war in December 1941, matters became more complicated. 
Ireland had no diplomatic presence in the Far East and had tradition-
ally relied on Britain for its consular activities in the region. After 
Britain and Japan went to war, Walshe instructed the Irish minister 
in Lisbon, Colman O’Donovan, to ask the Portuguese government to 
take over Britain’s role on Ireland’s behalf.41 With Irish civilians, mostly 
religious missionaries, scattered all over Asia, Dublin was keen to 
maintain a relationship with Tokyo, but this was fraught with difficulty. 
For instance, in 1943 the raising of the Japanese consulate in Dublin to 
a consulate-general provoked a sharp enquiry from David Gray, US 
minister in Dublin, and a telegram from US Secretary of State Cordell 
Hull, asking for confirmation of ‘the extension of this gratuitous cour-
tesy to our enemy’.42
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Throughout the war, when the families of Irish members of the British 
forces, either missing or confirmed to be prisoners, contacted the govern-
ment seeking information, they received a variety of responses; again 
illustrating that there was no pre-prepared policy. The most common 
one was a referral to the Irish, British or International Red Cross, or 
the Prisoner of War Department of the British government. On some 
occasions, the government undertook to contact the Swiss government 
to enquire about Irish prisoners and in these cases, External Affairs 
usually asked the enquirer to forward a cheque to cover the cost of the 
telegrams; for instance, on 10 February 1941, External Affairs requested a 
deposit of £1.10.43

During 1940 and into 1941, there was still concern in government 
circles over the shallow legal foundation of the belligerent internment 
policy. The matter was first mentioned during an External Affairs and 
Defence joint conference in February 1941. It was Frederick Boland 
himself who raised it, stating that there were ‘no specified powers’ in 
relation to belligerent internment and that ‘in view of the numbers of the 
internees, the possibility of the legal position being challenged cannot 
be overlooked’.44 In December 1941 a Department of Defence memo 
pointed out that, while the warring powers were unlikely to challenge 
Eire’s right to detain belligerent personnel, ‘It is not, however, outside 
the bounds of possibility, in the peculiar circumstances of this country, 
than an effort might be made, otherwise than by the Powers themselves, 
to obtain the release of internees by way of habeas corpus proceedings’.45 
The ‘peculiar circumstances’ referred to were the tens of thousands of 
Eire citizens then currently serving in the Allied forces, particularly 
the British. Interning an Irish member of the Allied forces could lead 
to potentially severe legal problems and a successful challenge to their 
internment could call the whole system into question. If Dublin was 
forced to either abandon its internment policy or to enforce it strictly 
as a result of a successful challenge, the resulting lack of control could 
have led to problematic relationships with the belligerents. There was a 
relatively recent precedent for this: in 1926 an Irish deserter from the 
British army successfully opposed his deportation from the Irish Free 
State, and the then Attorney-General, John A. Costello, found in favour 
of the soldier on the grounds that he had not broken any Irish law.46 
Theoretically, any Irish member of the Allied forces could use the same 
argument if interned from 1940 onwards, and the Attorney-General was 
of the opinion that even an official arrest warrant signed by the Minister 
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for Justice was unlikely to survive in court.47 Although it was felt that 
such a challenge was unlikely, de Valera himself thought ‘it well to ensure 
against such a contingency by providing for internment under our own 
municipal law’.48 This marked the first move in a decisive shift away from 
international guidelines and towards Irish law. The nightmare scenario 
of an Irish member of the Allied forces crashing in Eire actually occurred 
in July 1942, when an RAF aircraft made landfall in Donegal, carrying an 
Irish crewmember who was, ironically, a native of Donegal. He and his 
crew were quickly spirited to the border with Northern Ireland.49 Robert 
Fisk has reported that another such incident took place during 1943. In 
this case, an RAF Sunderland flying boat crashed in county Kerry; one 
of the crew, a man from Limerick, was permitted to visit his home before 
they were transported to the border.50

One possible alternative that was considered was to arrest all belliger-
ent personnel under Emergency Powers Order (EPO) no. 20. There was 
some sense in this suggestion, as German agents sent to Ireland had been 
interned under this order, as well as members of the IRA.51 However, this 
order was aimed at those who were deemed a severe danger to the state 
and, as Frederick Boland said, the need to intern belligerent personnel 
arose from ‘the sincere desire of the State to carry out its international 
obligations as a neutral’ rather than any suggestion that the men in 
K-Lines threatened the stability of the country.52 Another drawback of 
this solution was that under EPO no. 20, belligerent personnel would 
be subjected to the full rigours of political internment, including being 
fingerprinted and having their photographs taken, which was hardly 
likely to help the morale of the camp. Measures such as these were simi-
lar to what prisoners of war in Europe went through after capture53 and 
were likely to trigger complaints from the warring nations.

The most obvious solution was that favoured by de Valera: to move 
away from international law and draw up a new Emergency Powers 
Order specifically dealing with belligerent personnel, but which would 
firmly anchor their internment in current emergency law. Such an 
approach meant that there would be no complex debates over interpre-
tations of international conventions, and the government would have a 
clear legal basis for their actions, but it also presented its own problems. 
At any given time, Ireland was host to hundreds of Irish members of the 
British forces home on leave, as well as other Allied troops who travelled 
to Dublin regularly, and any blanket internment order would automati-
cally apply to them as well. To get around this, it was suggested that only 
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belligerent personnel arriving in Eire while in uniform should be subject 
to internment. This meant that EPO no. 17, signed in October 1939 and 
‘devised to prevent the wearing of British uniforms in this State’54 had 
to be amended. The Department of Defence suggested that the British 
military be requested to provide civilian clothes to any Irish personnel 
coming home on leave.55 They seemed to be unaware that de Valera had 
already raised this issue with Sir John Maffey, the UK Representative in 
Eire, as early as October 1939,56 and that Maffey had promised to take 
measures to restrict the practice.57

It has been suggested in other works (my own included) that the de 
Valera government banned the wearing of British uniforms in Ireland 
in October 1939 as a way of disguising the extent of Irish participation 
in the British forces, or as a way of maintaining the façade of neutrality.58 
While there remains a great deal of truth in this, the complex debate over 
belligerent internment and the uniform issue shows that, to some extent 
at least, the government needed Irish members of the British forces to 
wear civilian clothes in order to avoid interning them, and specifically 
altered the proposed Emergency Powers Order to accommodate them.

Eventually, the government drew up two emergency orders dealing with 
belligerent internment. The first, EPO no. 170, gave ministers the power 
to intern anyone if it was ‘expedient in the interests of the preservation 
of the State’, but it was careful to note that the order was linked to ‘the 
international obligations of the State’; this differentiated the belligerent 
internees from the republican detainees in No.1 camp and undercover 
Axis agents apprehended while in Eire. Rather than rely on the 1907 
Hague Convention to decide where belligerents could be held, EPO no. 
170 passed that authority to the Minister for Defence, who had the final 
say over the ‘places, manner and conditions of internment’.59 As a result of 
its introduction, on 1 May 1942 Minister for Defence Oscar Traynor signed 
an order for the internment of 32 British and Commonwealth personnel 
already in custody,60 as well as the German personnel. From that point on, 
a signed directive from Traynor accompanied all new arrivals in K-Lines. 
The second was EPO no. 171, which concerned assistance given to intern-
ees to escape. It became an offence to help internees escape, to harbour 
them after escape or to assist them to leave the State. It applied both to 
civilians outside the wire and internees within the camp who aided their 
comrades to break out. Entering an internment camp without authorisa-
tion was also prohibited, as was interfering with the administration of 
the camp, smuggling correspondence for any internee or conveying any 
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‘article of food (including confectionary), or any liquid, cigars, cigarettes, 
or tobacco, or any money, securities, jewellery or like valuable articles, or 
any articles capable of facilitating the escape of an interned person’.

After the war, when the new Inter-Party government was discussing 
Ireland’s signing the 1949 Geneva Convention, the Attorney-General 
warned that, if the government signed the document, it would have 
some consequences if Ireland found itself neutral in a future war and 
had to again intern belligerent personnel. ‘We were not bound in the 
matter by Convention in the last world war’, the Attorney-General 
admitted, ‘and the method of partly shelving and partly compromising 
which we adopted could not be repeated on our becoming parties to the 
new Convention.’61

Ireland signed the Convention ‘without reservations’ in December 
1949, which meant that Dublin needed to alter aspects of Irish law to 
come into line with the Convention. In particular, the conditions in 
which any future belligerent internees would be held in had to be set out 
in Irish law, along the lines of the Convention. As well as that, the link 
between the two groups was made explicit: ‘the term “prisoners of war” 
includes members of the belligerent armed forces who might be interned 
here during a war in which this country was neutral’.62 The legislation 
was finally signed into law as the ‘Prisoners of war and enemy aliens 
act, 1956’, which gave the Minister for Defence or any other Minister the 
power to intern prisoners of war of any or a single nationality, or any 
particular category of prisoner of war.63

Conclusion

The signing of the 1949 Convention and its eventual implementation 
through Irish law meant that the situation during the Second World War, 
in which the Dublin government picked which aspects of international 
internment regulations it wished to follow, could not occur again. The 
legal basis of the Irish military internment regime during the Second 
World War, an improvised mixture of international law and emergency 
decree, was therefore unique in Irish history. Although Dublin never 
again arrested and detained members of foreign military forces during 
wartime, from 1956 onwards it was bound into the international legal 
system. The experiment of 1940–46, of partially implementing and 
partially ignoring international law, could not be repeated.
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Keeping One Eye Abroad: 
Belligerent Internment 
and Diplomacy

Abstract: This chapter explores the difficulty that the Irish 
government had in combining two increasingly divergent 
objectives: fulfilling its international obligations as a neutral, 
and maintaining its crucial relationships with the Allies. 
From the very beginning of the war, Irish neutrality and the 
internment regime was orientated towards Britain, a trend 
which became much more pronounced once America entered 
the conflict. Dublin consistently prioritised the maintenance 
of good relations with the Allies, and demonstrated this by 
releasing Allied aircraft and crew which crashed on Irish 
territory, while simultaneously interning all Germans who 
landed in Ireland. It further shows that Ireland was not alone 
in tailoring its internment regimes towards the Allies, and 
that all European neutrals compromised in their internment 
policies.

Keywords: Allies; American; non-operational; 
operational; release

Kelly, Bernard. Military Internees, Prisoners of War  
and the Irish State during the Second World War. 
Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 2015.  
doi: 10.1057/9781137446039.0005.



 Military Internees, Prisoners of War and the Irish State

DOI: 10.1057/9781137446039.0005

In 1945, the Dominions Office in London drew up a document which 
listed 19 ways in which the government of neutral Ireland had assisted 
Britain during the war. Alongside matters such as allowing Allied 
aircraft to cut across Donegal to reach the Atlantic, the supply of Irish 
meteorological data and the constant flow of Irish recruits for the British 
forces, the Dominions Office noted that the de Valera government had 
agreed to intern all German personnel who landed in Ireland, while they 
negotiated the eventual release of all Allied personnel in the Curragh. 
Later added to the list was the fact that ‘Since 1941 all force-landed Allied 
aircraft have been allowed to take off again if airworthy and have been 
refuelled and otherwise assisted by the Eire Air Corps as necessary for 
this purpose. All damaged force-landed Allied aircraft are now salvaged 
by the Eire Air Corps and returned by them to the RAF authorities at 
the Northern Ireland border’.1 Most of these aircraft and personnel were 
handed over at the border at the towns of Pettigo and Belleek on the 
borderline between Donegal and Fermanagh. The Pettigo-Belleek area 
had been the scene of a firefight between Irish troops, British army and 
Royal Ulster Constabulary (RUC) in June 1922, which threatened to 
become a major Anglo-Irish crisis, and it is therefore somewhat ironic 
that it was this area the eventually became the conduit for intense mili-
tary cooperation between the former adversaries. The Dominions Office 
list illustrated that the Irish internment policy was closely tied to Dublin’s 
neutrality. As the war went on and Irish neutrality became increasingly 
pro-Allied, so too did the belligerent internment policy. Robert Fisk 
has highlighted the shift in the Irish government’s attitude towards 
internment as marking the period when Dublin moved from friendly 
to ‘benevolent’ neutrality,2 particularly after America entered the war. 
Relations between Dublin and the Allies were difficult at times during 
the conflict. Churchill’s well-known and often-expressed irritation with 
Irish neutrality aside, there were several other areas of disagreement.  
De Valera’s refusal to allow British access to Irish ports throughout 1940, 
his intervention to prevent the introduction of conscription in Northern 
Ireland in 1939 and again in 1941, his protest at the landing of US troops 
in the province in 1942 and his rejection of the demand to expel Axis 
diplomats in February 1944 (known in Irish history as the American 
Note crisis) were all flashpoints in the Irish-Allied relationship through-
out the war. Interpreting its internment obligations in a way which was 
advantageous towards the Allies was one way to reduce the tension and 
Robert Fisk has even suggested that the liberal concessions offered to 
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the Allies over downed aircrew is an example of Irish ‘collusion’ with the 
Allies.3 In large part, Irish neutrality relied on the restraint on the part 
of Britain and the US,4 both of which had the military and economic 
power to cripple Eire if they wished. A liberal approach to belligerent 
internment was part of a larger policy of covert cooperation to ensure 
that this restraint continued.

The connection between internment and neutrality operated on three 
levels. The first was visible from the opening days of the war: the in-built 
bias within Irish neutrality towards Britain was replicated in the lack 
of any internment policy once the conflict broke out. There were few, 
if any, German aircraft in Irish skies in the early period of the war; the 
absence of any intention to intern downed pilots therefore exclusively 
assisted Britain. Even after mid-1940, when Dublin was forced to imple-
ment a much more evenly balanced regime, considerable leeway was 
still granted to British aircraft which landed in Eire. Secondly, Dublin 
was susceptible to pressure from the belligerents because of conditions 
with the internment camp itself. Because the Axis and Allied internees 
had direct and unsupervised access to their diplomatic representatives, 
any dissatisfaction with life inside K-Lines could quickly be translated 
into pressure on the Dublin government. The initially strict condi-
tions within the camp were transformed after representations from the 
German minister in Dublin, Eduard Hempel in late 1940. The impor-
tance attached by de Valera to the diplomatic aspects of internment was 
reinforced when, in October 1940, the Department of External Affairs 
took over the leading role in running K-Lines, effectively removing 
responsibility from the Department of Defence. Finally, alterations in the 
internment policy were a way of reaching out directly to the belligerents, 
in particular the United States. De Valera’s decision not to intern any 
American personnel, regardless of the circumstances of their arrival in 
Eire, is the best illustration of this. From 1942 until the end of the war, 39 
American aircraft landed in neutral Ireland; the 275 surviving personnel 
were all released.5 RAF pilot Roland Wolfe remained the only American 
incarcerated in K-Lines.

The concessions granted to the Allies, both inside and outside the 
camp, created a ripple effect within the internment policy, which gradu-
ally whittled away Dublin’s position. Once it became clear that Dublin 
was exempting US aircrew from internment, the UK representative, Sir 
John Maffey, pressed for the same consideration to be given to British 
personnel; when this was granted in October 1943, leading to the release 
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of some interned men, pressure was then applied to have Allied person-
nel exempted from internment completely. This was effectively agreed 
by de Valera in June 1944, when all remaining Allied internees were 
removed and released, while German sailors and aircrew who continued 
to land in Eire were all interned, right up to the very end of the war. 
Arguably from 1942, certainly from 1944 onwards, Dublin was openly 
and consciously operating internment against Germany only, a position 
which had its roots in the early leniency shown to Britain and the US in 
internment decisions.

From the very beginning of the war, Irish neutrality was closely linked 
to Dublin’s relationship with Britain. On 25 August 1939, secretary 
of External Affairs Joseph Walshe penned a memo for his minister, 
de Valera. With war on the continent inevitable, Walshe laid out the 
foundations of the Irish stance towards the conflict for de Valera, for 
the Taoiseach to pass onto the German representative in Dublin. ‘Our 
position vis-à-vis the European conflict is that of a neutral State’, wrote 
Walshe, but the situation was not as simple as that. ‘Our neutrality’, 
he continued, ‘cannot have all the characters of those neutral States 
which have had a long existence as separate States.’ The Irish economy 
was still intimately bound up with the British and Ireland’s strategic 
position, sitting astride the major Atlantic trade routes, meant that a 
certain consideration for Britain had to be built into Irish neutrality. In 
particular, the Irish government had to ensure that Ireland would never 
be used as a base from which to attack Britain and ‘Any such activities 
directed against our powerful neighbour would ipso facto constitute a 
menace to our existence as a separate State’. This attitude pre-dated the 
war by several years: de Valera publicly stated in the Dáil in May 1935 
that the overriding defence priority of his government was to prevent 
any other country striking at Britain through Ireland.6 Dublin warned 
that Irish neutrality would inevitably be closely tied to Britain and 
Walshe suggested that if Germany was unable to accept this, then the 
two countries should withdraw their respective Legations.7

The same lenient approach to Britain was visible in the internment 
policy in the early days of the war. As already noted, several British 
aircraft touched down in Ireland or in Irish waters, and all were allowed 
to leave, sometimes after being repaired or refuelled. Likewise, Walshe 
visited British Foreign Secretary Anthony Eden on 7 September 1939 and 
– in an obvious attempt to quash the rumours that U-boats were using 
the west coast of Ireland as refuges – told Eden that Ireland ‘intended to 
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intern any crews of German submarines who might be obliged to land 
on our shores’.8 This same point was repeated in a note to the British, 
French and German governments on 12 September.9

During October 1939, Colonel Liam Archer of G2 suggested to Walshe 
that the threat of internment be used to extract concessions in talks with 
the British government: unless London clamped down on false newspa-
per stories about covert Irish aid to Germany, then ‘we will be absolutely 
compelled to intern the next British aircraft and crew that may fall into 
our hands’, implying that Dublin had been deliberate in its leniency, 
an attitude which continued well into 1940. In May, an RAF Hampden 
landed by mistake at the Curragh camp and, despite having been in 
action over Germany, it was refuelled and allowed to leave.10 Indeed, 
despite these early landings, the first British pilot did not see the inside 
of the Curragh until the end of September 1940, and his lightly-damaged 
Hurricane was bought from the RAF and became part of the Irish Air 
Corps. However, even after this, when Dublin had committed to intern-
ing all belligerent personnel who landed in Ireland, exceptions were 
still made for the British. In December 1940, two British sailors were 
arrested in Donegal but were then released over the border; an action 
that, even in the opinion of the British, probably breached neutrality.11 
Michael Kennedy has further noted that in the early days of the Coast 
Watching Service, established to monitor air and sea traffic in and 
around Irish waters and airspace, the lack of training worked to British 
advantage. Coast watchers were initially unable to distinguish between 
British and German aircraft; the result, as Maffey noted, was that aircraft 
were excluded from coast watching reports and thus the RAF, which was 
the dominant presence in Irish skies, could over-fly Eire without fear 
of recognition.12 This situation was gradually improved and the Coast 
Watching Service became extremely proficient in tracking and recording 
both Allied and Axis incursions into Irish airspace.

The early internees in K-Lines lived under intense military security 
and were guarded so closely that it sparked a complaint from the 
German minister in Dublin. Initial responsibility for the camp rested 
with the Department of Defence and with Colonel Thomas McNally, 
officer commanding of Curragh Command, with responsibility for both 
the republican detainees in No.1 camp and the belligerent personnel in 
No.2 camp. Guards rotated duties between the two camps and it was 
inevitable that some of the antagonism between the PAs and the IRA 
would transfer from Tintown to K-Lines. Following a visit to the camp, 
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Hempel contacted External Affairs in September 1940 to complain 
about the tight security and the general conditions the German intern-
ees lived in. Among the specific issues he identified were: they were 
not allowed to drink alcohol, they had no wireless set or newspapers, 
and they had not been issued with civilian clothes and so were still 
wearing the uniforms they had been captured in. Even IRA internees, 
when they needed them, were issued with civilian clothes at the State’s 
expense,13 which they were permitted to keep when released. Hempel 
further pointed out that while the men were being treated in hospital, 
their windows had been nailed shut and they were deprived of fresh air; 
in short, as the senior German officer, Oberleutnant Kurt Mollenhauer, 
commented to Hempel, they ‘seemed to be regarded as prisoners of war 
rather than as military internees’. He hoped that the restrictions would 
be loosened, that Mollenhauer would be allowed to visit the German 
Legation in Dublin, and that all the internees would be allowed to prac-
tice their civilian occupations, as amongst the aircrew were mechanics, 
a gardener and a student.14

Although the complaint was delivered in a friendly manner, assistant 
secretary of External Affairs Frederick Boland at External Affairs took it 
extremely seriously and contacted Defence urging that the restrictions 
be reduced. He argued that while it was Dublin’s duty as a neutral to 
intern these men, it was futile to make their incarceration unbear-
able. ‘There is no point whatever’, Boland wrote, ‘in refusing them any 
amenity which does not detract from the measures taken for their safe 
custody.’ By lowering the security around the internees, Boland was not 
only attempting to make the job of guarding the men easier; he was also 
alive to any potential diplomatic problem which conditions inside the 
camp might cause. At this early stage in the war, only Germans had been 
detained, but Boland was looking to the future. As he put it:

I am satisfied that this is not only the course dictated by the general practice 
of neutrals in the treatment of military internees, but that in our particular 
circumstance, it is the wisest policy to pursue. What we have to remember, I 
think, is that, before the war is over, we may have military internees of other 
than German nationality. The internment of members of the British Armed 
Forces here would give rise to questions in some ways more difficult than 
any we have had to face in connection with the present six men, and what we 
must be sure of is that we do not now withhold reasonable and usual ameni-
ties which it might be later deemed expedient to grant to military internees of 
another nationality to obviate, for example, attacks in the British press.15
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Boland was eager to ensure than any future British internees would not be 
guarded as tightly as the first Germans and removing the more onerous 
restrictions now would prevent complaints from London, further negative 
press coverage or accusations of favouritism from Germany. Following 
this intervention from Boland, a set of draft regulations was drawn up 
for dealing with belligerent internees. In line with his suggestions, they 
acknowledged that the security of the camp was paramount, but that 
all measures would be taken to ‘relieve the monotony of their captivity’. 
Alcohol, radio and newspapers were now all permitted and any security 
precautions ‘should be taken as unobtrusively as circumstances permit’.16 
However, things were slow to change and on 27 September, Walshe wrote 
to the secretary of the Department of Defence, pointing out that condi-
tions in K-Lines were still ‘unduly rigorous and unsympathetic’.17

The weight attached to the diplomatic dimensions of internment 
can be judged by the fact that, on 2 October 1940, the Department of 
External Affairs took the leading role in running K-Lines. While the 
Irish military remained in charge of the security surrounding the camp, 
all major decisions regarding the conditions inside the wire (including 
living conditions, parole and prevention of escapes) were from that 
point approved by External Affairs first, usually by Boland himself, and 
sometimes also had to receive de Valera’s sanction. At a conference in 
February 1941, Boland reinforced the point that the conditions within 
the camp had implications for Ireland’s relationship with the warring 
powers. Discussing the issue of parole for the internees, he said that

in the view of the diplomatic representatives – and this is in accordance with 
the generally accepted international point of view – belligerent internees in a 
Neutral State are, to a certain extent, guests of the State and that it was desir-
able, therefore, that they should be granted all possible concessions consistent 
with the necessary precautions against their escape. (Irish Military Archives, 
S/231 ‘Conference at the Dept of Defence on the 1st February, 1941)

Interventions from diplomatic representatives also prompted Boland to 
alter the frequency with which internees could contact their Legations 
from quarterly to monthly. He further mentioned that Hempel had made 
several requests that Irish officers adopt a friendlier attitude towards the 
German internees, to which Colonel McNally replied that this created 
some difficulties, because of ‘political opinions’.18 He was either worried 
that his officers were pro-Allied or were pro-German and that either 
would complicate their interactions with the Germans, but this was not 
confirmed in the document.
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Once Allied aircrew began to arrive in the camp, the diplomatic scru-
tiny increased. The Canadian minister in Dublin supplied the B camp 
with a radio and the UK representative in Ireland, Sir John Maffey, was 
a frequent visitor. Over the course of three days in May 1941, the Polish 
Consul General, Maffey and two other British representatives visited 
the British internees.19 From February 1942, an Air Ministry official 
was detailed to report directly to London every fortnight on conditions 
within the camp.20 However, this also operated in reverse: when it became 
known that German internees were regularly travelling outside their 
parole area, Boland requested that the details of the violations be sent to 
the German minister.21 Rather than the Irish authorities penalising the 
internees and possibly causing ill-will, Boland hoped that Hempel would 
put a stop to the practice. The men would still be punished, but there 
would be no danger of a diplomatic incident if Hempel handled the issue 
himself.

As de Valera occupied the External Affairs portfolio as well as being 
Taoiseach, representations from the belligerent diplomats all reached 
him directly or through either Walshe or Boland. Not all of the bellig-
erents were so interested in their internees: Stephen Tanner has alleged 
that the US Legation in Switzerland did next to nothing to improve the 
conditions of US airmen in Swiss punishment camps,22 while T. Ryle 
Dwyer suggested that the Canadian representative in Dublin was not 
eager to visit K-Lines23 and that the Canadian government did not even 
know how many Canadians were held in the Curragh.24 The Canadian 
minister appears infrequently on the visitor list in the Irish archives, 
while Maffey or his officials visited on a very regular basis. However, as it 
is unclear whether the Canadians in K-Lines were members of the Royal 
Air Force or the Canadian, the absence of the Canadian minister cannot 
be definitely be classified as disinterest.

From October 1940 onwards, many of the conferences in which parole 
and other conditions were set were either held in the offices of External 
Affairs or were attended by Boland. There are also several letters in the 
internment files contained in the Irish Military Archives from Joseph 
Walshe and de Valera himself attended a conference on parole condi-
tions for internees in 1942. In addition to that, the living conditions of 
the internees were discussed at the Cabinet Committee on Emergency 
Problems, which dealt with issues arising from neutrality and the war 
and was attended by both ministers and high-ranking civil servants. As 
already mentioned, from October 1940, External Affairs had the final say 
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on issues such as parole, which had initially been left at the discretion of 
the officer commanding of the Curragh; for example, in November 1941, 
the army Adjutant-General wrote to External Affairs, asking them to set 
time limits on internee parole,25 which the PA would then enforce.

The entry of the United States into the war in December l941 changed 
the dynamic of the Irish internment regime. Dublin had a strained rela-
tionship with America throughout 1940, and it deteriorated further in 
1941 as Washington moved ever closer to the Allies. In public de Valera 
made attempts to reassure Roosevelt of his pro-Allied leanings. During 
a speech in Cork, a week after Pearl Harbour, de Valera declared that 
Ireland was pursuing a policy of ‘friendly neutrality’ towards the Allies.26 
To make matters worse, de Valera had a poor personal relationship 
with the US minister in Ireland, David Gray, which was a most unfor-
tunate situation given that Gray was related to Roosevelt and had the 
President’s ear. Gray was both a passionate believer in the Allied cause 
and an outspoken opponent of Irish neutrality. His actions in Dublin 
during the war have not endeared him to Irish historians: he has been 
described by Dermot Keogh as ‘a troublemaker’ who remained ignorant 
of the intricacies of Irish politics for the whole of his tenure as minister.27 
However, Gray’s negative attitude towards neutrality, although some-
times inelegantly expressed, only mirrored that of Roosevelt and the 
administration. Washington did not approve of Dublin’s stance during 
the war and steadfastly refused to provide any arms or military equip-
ment to Eire while de Valera declined to cooperate overtly with Britain. 
A visit by Frank Aiken, the Irish Minister for the Coordination of 
Defensive Measures, to America in April 1941 had little chance of success 
and did not achieve very much. Indeed, the trip proved to be a complete 
disaster for Irish war-time diplomacy and Aiken, who was stubborn, 
dour and curt, was a poor choice of representative. His meeting with 
Roosevelt went legendarily badly: Aiken claimed that the President was 
so irritated during the interview that he knocked the cutlery from the 
table.28 Aiken had hoped to secure American arms and funds for the 
Irish Defence Forces, but he returned with just two cargo ships and a 
promise of $500,000 in Red Cross Aid.29

Throughout 1941 there were persistent rumours that US personnel were 
preparing the port of Derry, in Northern Ireland, to be an American mili-
tary base in the event of US involvement in the European war, and this 
added a further level of complication to Irish-US relations. The de Valera 
government maintained an irredentist claim to the territory of Northern 
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Ireland, the six counties which had remained within the UK when the 
island was partitioned by the British government in 1922. Dublin’s claim 
was enshrined in article two of the 1937 Constitution; the presence of 
American troops in Northern Ireland presented de Valera with a thorny 
problem. Because of the claim on the territory, de Valera felt he had to 
make a public statement on the US presence there, but anything that was 
too strongly worded risked further alienating Washington. When the first 
wave of American personnel finally arrived at the end of January 1942, 
de Valera compromised and issued what was effectively a non-protesting 
protest:30 after stating that Ireland had no quarrel with the United States, 
it went on to say that it was the government’s ‘duty to make it clearly 
understood that no matter what troops occupy the Six Counties, the Irish 
people’s claim for the union of the whole of the national territory and 
for supreme jurisdiction over it will remain unabated’.31 This still publicly 
registered Dublin’s interest in the territory, but was carefully calibrated 
not to antagonise Washington too much.

The arrival of US personnel in the North coincided with a huge 
increase in American flights in and around Ireland. Beginning in 
mid-1942, there was a mounting list of landings in Eire by American 
military aircraft, as Washington began to transfer vast quantities of men, 
machines and material to the UK. The Irish government approached 
this new situation with the same caution as it had the issue of US troops 
in Ulster. Throughout 1942–43, despite an ever-increasing number of 
landings and crashes by US aircraft, no American personnel were ever 
interned. Although no document has yet been found which tracks the 
origin of this decision, records exist of meetings between Joseph Walshe 
and David Gray in late 1942 and January 1943. Despite the fact that 
Walshe did not like Gray, the two men were able to put their personal 
feelings aside and come to an agreement regarding American flights in 
Ireland. At the first meeting, Gray asked the Irish government to draw a 
distinction between US aircraft which were on ferry or training flights, 
and those which were on combat flights; what Walshe suggested was that 
the two categories be referred to as ‘non-operational’ and ‘operational’. 
Gray also unsubtly stated that should Ireland intern American aircrew, 
the US State Department would raise the matter after the war and that 
if Americans were detained in the Curragh, ‘it would be impossible to 
keep this news from American correspondents’. He further requested 
that Dublin regard all German overflights as being operational and, 
therefore, subject to internment if they landed.32
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Walshe replied that Ireland’s attitude was one of ‘friendly neutral-
ity’ – deliberately repeating de Valera’s words of December 1941 – and 
he dropped the equally unsubtle hint that Dublin intended interning 
belligerent aircrew on operational flights only. He also requested that 
any agreement be kept unofficial, as committing something to paper 
would be likely to ‘create difficulties’.33 US Secretary of State Cordell 
Hull agreed with this, as he felt that the agreement contravened inter-
national precedents that had been set during the First World War.34 
However, in order to avoid having to intern any Americans, Walshe 
explicitly warned Gray to remind all US aircrew to claim they were on 
non-operational flights if they were detained by Irish security forces 
after landing in Eire. Walshe further pointed out that after one such 
crash-landing, Irish officers had to actually create a cover story for an 
American pilot in order to be able to release him.35 This was a major 
issue for the Irish authorities before the Walshe-Gray meetings: the 
crew of five of the first six US aircraft which landed in Ireland after 
Washington entered the war did not claim to be on non-operational 
flights but were released anyway.36 In January 1944, a document found 
near a crashed US aircraft in county Kilkenny proved that Gray had 
heeded Walshe’s advice: the paper instructed American aircrew that, 
if they landed in Ireland, they were to emphasise ‘ “WE ARE ON A 
NON-OPERATION FLIGHT” NOTHING ELSE’.37 It was further agreed 
that an American officer would be detailed to act as a liaison between 
Dublin, Washington and the forces in Northern Ireland when US 
aircraft landed.38

The guidelines suggested by Gray became Irish policy. In February 
1943, Michael Rynne sketched out the evolving Irish approach, stating 
that, as the sheer number of belligerent aircraft in operation made the 
Hague rules impossible to enforce, each neutral was forced to do ‘what 
it can within the framework of its special difficulties to build up a body 
of rules or customs based on the broad principles of international law’.39 
In a long memorandum in April 1944, he set out what had now become 
the government’s official stance. The ‘essential criteria on which the 
Government’s internment policy depends’ wrote Rynne, were

(a) Airmen are interned when they land on Irish territory during operational 
flights, (b) they are released when they are land during non-operational 
flights, (c) Allied airmen are presumed to be on non-operational flights 
unless the contrary is proved by us and (d) German airmen are presumed to 
be on an operational flight unless the contrary is proved by them.40
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This formula, combined with the fact that by 1942 Eire had disregarded 
international law as a framework for belligerent internment and instead 
relied on Irish legislation, allowed Dublin to operate what was effectively 
three separate internment regimes: US aircrew were never interned, 
regardless of the circumstances of their arrival in Ireland. British and 
Commonwealth personnel were almost always released, except when 
they had transparently been on a combat mission, while German 
personnel were consistently detained, no matter what their status. The 
fact that all Americans went free while British pilots were still subject to 
occasional internment was, as Rynne noted, an ‘absurd state of affairs’ 
which ‘actually discriminates between Allies, both equally entitled to the 
full benefit of the presumption in their favour’.41

The result was that during 1942, despite 35 Allied planes coming down 
on Irish soil, only one pilot was interned.42 On at least one occasion, an 
Allied aircraft was classified as being on a non-combat flight, even when 
the Irish authorities believed otherwise. In April 1942, an RAF Curtis 
Tomahawk landed in Wicklow. The pilot stated that he was on a training 
flight from Scotland; however, Dan Bryan of G2 suspected ‘that he was 
in pursuit of a German aircraft which had preceded him southwards 
along the coastline’.43 The pilot was briefly interned, then released.44 
From 1943 to the end of the war, a further 77 Allied aircraft landed in 
Ireland, with only five crew being interned.45 When Hempel attempted 
to have a German aircraft which crashed in Tipperary during December 
1943 classed as non-operational, Walshe refused, arguing that the crew 
had destroyed the craft and the ensuing explosion was heard ‘fifty miles 
away’; he ‘could not imagine a training plane having so much explosives 
aboard’. He further explained to Hempel that Dublin could not regard 
any German aircraft landing in Ireland as being non-operational, on 
the reasonable grounds that British aerodromes were extremely close to 
Ireland, whereas German planes had to fly hundreds of miles to enter 
Irish airspace.46 Hempel was unable to challenge this argument and his 
inability to move Walshe from this position showed the weak diplomatic 
hand Germany had to play at this stage of the war.

This policy caused de Valera some awkward moments in the Dáil and 
independent TD Oliver Flanagan was particularly determined to pin 
de Valera down on the anomalous operation of the internment policy. 
When asked in November 1943 about belligerent aircraft being allowed 
to leave, the Taoiseach replied tersely that ‘Those which were engaged on 
operational flights were detained and their crews interned. The others 
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were released’.47 When questioned again in February 1944 by Flanagan, 
de Valera referred him back to his November 1943 answer, and refused to 
provide any more details.48 Flanagan persisted, and asked that if British 
pilots were being released, why were Germans still being detained, ‘if we 
are neutral?’49 De Valera declined to answer yet another question on the 
subject from the determined Flanagan on 28 June 1944.50

The Irish policy led to some celebrated incidents that were widely 
known to the public despite the wish of the Irish government to keep 
them confidential. In January 1943 a USAF B-17 crashed in a field in 
Athenry, county Galway, in the west of Ireland. The aircraft was carry-
ing several high-ranking officers on board, including US General Jacob 
Devers and Lt. General Edward Brooks. Local legend states that the 
Americans thought they had landed in enemy territory, as an Irish-
speaking battalion of the Local Defence Force (LDF) arrived to secure 
the site and the US aircrew could not understand the language. Devers 
spoke freely with Irish military officers about the war situation, condi-
tions in liberated areas and the training in the US army, information 
which was carefully recorded by G2 and which was passed onto de 
Valera himself.51 In the meantime, they were entertained in a local hotel 
and handed out souvenirs to visitors. The aircraft crashed at around 
midday on 15 January and by 2 AM the next morning, the crew and all 
of the eminent passengers had been ferried to the border with Northern 
Ireland,52 crossing over at Belleek. Another B-17 which flew over Dublin 
in April 1943 was made to feel less welcome, when Irish anti-aircraft guns 
opened fire on it, forcing it to land at Dublin airport, whereupon it was 
refuelled and released. The incident led to instructions being issued to 
gunners that Allied aircraft were not to be fired upon unless they were 
transparently hostile. This mirrored orders given to Swedish anti-aircraft 
defences to fire only warning shots at German and Finnish aircraft in 
Swedish airspace during the early phase of the Axis invasion of the USSR 
in June 1941.53 Shortly afterwards the incident at Dublin airport, de Valera 
himself explicitly reminded US officials that the current Irish policy was 
not rooted in any international regulations and that it was operating 
exclusively in favour of the Allies.54 In yet another example, an American 
C-47 carrying armed US officers landed at Rineanna airport, where it 
remained overnight; both Defence and External Affairs were consulted 
before it was released to fly to Northern Ireland.55

Dublin attempted to keep track of the internment policy of other 
European neutrals, particularly once the change in policy had been 
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decided upon, in order to reassure itself that it was not committing a 
major breach of neutrality by releasing Allied aircraft and crews. The 
major difficulty was in actually getting information from the continent 
in the midst of the war and early in the conflict Boland lamented that 
Ireland could not obtain details of how other neutrals were dealing with 
the issue.56 Moreover, when the information arrived, it was debateable 
whether it could actually be relied upon. The Irish Legation in Berlin 
sent news in October 1943 that Switzerland had begun to release equal 
numbers of Allied and German personnel. Documents from the Swedish 
Consul-General informed Dublin that Sweden interned all belligerent 
personnel arriving on its territory, but External Affairs suspected that ‘at 
least prior to May 1943, German military aircraft were allowed to take off 
with all their crew as soon necessary repairs had been effected’. External 
Affairs also gleaned from the Daily Express that British crews were now 
being released after landing in Sweden. Details of internment in Turkey 
and Portugal were sketchy, but the best information available to de Valera 
was that both seemed to have released their belligerent internees.57 The 
government tried to stay in touch with developments in Sweden through 
the Swedish News pamphlet, which remain in the Irish National Archives, 
but which rarely mentioned military internees.58 In reality, all European 
neutrals, excluding Switzerland, adjusted their internment regimes as 
the course of the war dictated. Sweden, under pressure from Germany, 
initially followed a strict policy of interning all Allied personnel while 
offering concessions to the Luftwaffe, similar to those given by Ireland 
to the RAF and Coastal Command. Eventually 1218 US aircrew were 
held in Sweden.59 During the war, German medical and courier flights 
were allowed to overfly Swedish airspace.60 From 1944, it began large-
scale releases of Allied internees in return for US bombers and fighter 
aircraft.61 During 1944, the Swedes released 935 British and Americans, 
121 Russians, 20 Poles and 328 Germans.62 Although a post-war inves-
tigation found that Spain offered extensive assistance to German 
intelligence, aircraft and submarines,63 Franco also usually allowed US 
airmen to transit through Spain to Gibraltar rather than intern them.64 
Portugal temporarily interned both Allied and German personnel65 as 
did Turkey.66 The Swiss government authorised an exchange agreement 
with both the Allies and the Germans in February 1945, a process which 
was complicated by the fact that the number of Allied escapes from Swiss 
camps meant there was some difficulty in arriving at an accurate figure 
for Allied internees.67 However, Swiss policy was close to Ireland’s in one 
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respect: Switzerland occasionally released pilots who had become lost 
over the country on the grounds that, if they had not been on a combat 
mission, the Hague obligation to intern did not apply.68 Rynne explicitly 
placed Ireland and Switzerland in the same category when dealing with 
belligerent overflights.69

It is clear that Irish policy on internment and releases was extremely 
close to other European neutrals, which also disregarded international 
law when they could. Sweden, Turkey and Spain all purchased salvaged 
Allied aircraft after crash-landing; likewise, during the course of the war, 
Dublin bought one Hudson bomber, three Hurricane fighters, one Fairey 
Battle and one Miles Master training aircraft, all of which were recovered 
after crashing or force-landing.70 Another parallel was the destruction or 
removal of secret aircraft equipment. In April 1943, Maffey asked that 
all British aircrews be allowed to remove any ‘secret equipment’ in the 
event of a crash-landing, to which Oscar Traynor, Minister for Defence, 
agreed.71 Similarly, the Swiss on one occasion agreed to destroy a specially 
modified and secret model of German ME-110 nightfighter which landed 
near Zurich in 1944. Unlike the Irish, however, the Swiss extracted a high 
price: in return, they received 12 ME-109 fighter aircraft.72

The frequency with which Allied aircraft and crew were being released 
eventually sparked written protests from the German Minister in 
Dublin. On 21 May 1943, he wrote a letter detailing six releases which 
he knew of; on 27 July he wrote again, asking that an equal number of 
Germans be released.73 At a meeting with Walshe on 15 September 1943, 
Hempel complained that ‘nothing could be more serious than the act of 
allowing planes to depart from our custody in order to fight against the 
German Armed Forces and to drop bombs on civilians’. In reply, Walshe 
replied that Ireland had decided to adopt the ‘non-operational’ principle 
and that all releases of Allied aircraft came within this definition.74 On 
30 November, the disconcertingly well-informed Hempel sent an official 
note of protest against the Irish policy, pointing out that at least one of 
the Allied pilots released by the Irish government had re-entered active 
military service against Germany. However, a meeting between Hempel 
and Walshe at the end of November illustrated the dwindling German 
ability to pressure Ireland. When Hempel later stated that Berlin did 
not recognise the distinction drawn between operational and non-
operational flights, and requested the release of German personnel on 
the basis of reciprocity, Walshe told him bluntly that he ‘did not hold out 
any hope that his men could be released’.75
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The contrast between the inability of Germany to make any impres-
sion on the internment regime and the ever-growing influence of 
the Allies over it became increasingly marked throughout 1943 and 
1944. At the same time as Hempel was protesting to Walshe, Dublin 
was also coming under sustained pressure from London, particularly 
concerning the inconsistent Irish approach toward American, British 
and Commonwealth personnel. Maffey had previously attempted to 
extract compromises from the Irish government: in July 1942, Walshe 
complained to Peadar MacMahon at Defence that every time intern-
ment was discussed with Maffey, ‘it gives an opportunity for a request 
for concessions, the extent and impossibility of which you can well 
imagine’.76 From 1943 onwards, the UK representative in Dublin launched 
a much more persistent campaign to further tilt the Irish interment 
regime towards the Allies, which de Valera had difficulty in resisting 
as he had already sanctioned concessions towards the Americans. In 
February 1943, Maffey warned de Valera that after the war London would 
have difficulty forgetting that Eire detained British airmen and allowed 
Axis Legations to remain open.77 In May, seeking the release of the RAF 
personnel in K-Lines, Maffey dropped heavy hints about the ‘common 
supply line’ that Ireland and the UK shared across the Atlantic, as well 
as the ‘unhappiness and resentment which have spread from that camp 
to English homes and throughout the Commonwealth, casting long 
shadows’. At the same time, he argued the internment policy actually 
cost Allied lives, as damaged aircraft had crashed while trying to avoid 
landing in Ireland.78 In July he pressed home his attack on the spot where 
de Valera was weakest:

the detention of RAF will put the Eire Government in a position of grave 
embarrassment when an American crew is force-landed here from opera-
tions. This will certainly happen and may happen at any moment. I should be 
surprised to hear that the Eire Government have any intention of enforcing 
internment in such a case. The clash that would then occur between the Eire 
Government and the British Government in regard to the RAF internees is 
obvious.79

Under severe pressure from London, de Valera finally agreed to release 
Allied internees who were deemed not to have been on operational 
flights when they had landed in Ireland. Accordingly, twenty men 
were released in October 1943, and the others moved to a new camp 
near Gormanstown. Maffey informed the Dominions Office that this 
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development meant that British aircraft could operate around Eire ‘on 
the assumption that no risk of internment exists’.80 He also renewed his 
campaign for the release of the remaining eleven internees, while seek-
ing assurances that the Irish government would not try to release any 
Germans. In a meeting with Walshe on 11 October, Maffey stressed that 
the remaining internees were a ‘running sore’ in Anglo-Irish relations 
and London would ‘find it very hard to reconcile the continued intern-
ment of British airmen while we refrained from interning American 
airmen’.81

Such constant pressing by Maffey inevitably caused some irritation 
within the Irish government, particularly from Frederick Boland, who 
was primarily responsible for the belligerent internees in the Curragh. 
Writing on 13 October 1943, Boland argued for a rebalancing of the 
internment policy. He felt that it would make much more sense if all 
the internees, Axis as well as Allied, could be released. His preference 
was for an agreement with the UK under which all would be set free, 
in return for a promise not to intern any more Allied personnel who 
landed in Ireland. In Boland’s view, this would ‘involve far less political 
and other risks than the continuance of our current policy of granting 
every possible latitude to one side – to the point of interning only 6 of 
the 200 odd Allied airmen who landed here in the last 21 months – while 
visiting the utmost rigour of the law on the other’.82 Michael Rynne also 
noted irritably in 1944 that Britain seemed to expect far more of Eire 
than other European neutrals.83

Diplomatic considerations undoubtedly also played the central role in 
de Valera’s decision to intern 164 German sailors, who arrived in Cobh 
on 1 January 1944. The Germans had been rescued by the Irish coaster 
Kerlogue, after the destroyer Z27 and torpedo boats T25 and T26 had been 
sunk by the Royal Navy in the Bay of Biscay. The survivors estimated that 
only thirty per cent of those who had been forced to abandon their ships 
were eventually found.84 The Kerlogue refused to follow British instruc-
tions to put into a British port, as the captain argued that the sailors 
required medical attention, and he was proved correct as four of them 
died after their rescue.85 Once they landed, the sailors were questioned 
by G2, and this information was later passed to the Office of Strategic 
Services (OSS), the American intelligence agency.86 The arrival of the 
sailors presented a severe problem for de Valera. It was clear that the 
government had little idea what would happen once the Kerlogue found 
survivors, or that they would even reach Ireland, as they might be forced 
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to deliver them to the British. Walshe informed Hempel that although 
the men would be rescued, ‘we could give no guarantee whatever as to 
what would happen to the men when they had been picked up’, as Irish 
ships were subject to British contraband control.87 Under the terms of the 
1907 Convention, those rescued could be classed as distressed mariners; 
if the government chose this path, the men were exempt from intern-
ment. However, the Government was advised as early as September 
1939 that the actual regulations regarding shipwrecked sailors were not 
comprehensive, and that ‘neutrals are free to do what they like in the 
matter’.88 As previously noted, Michael Rynne had already in June 1940 
recommended the internment of sailors of all nationalities who came 
ashore in Ireland following the fall of France.

Moreover, the British government could not countenance such a large 
body of Germans being set free within Eire where they could potentially 
make contact with the IRA or gather intelligence on Allied forces in 
Northern Ireland, particularly with the landings at Normandy only a few 
months away. As under-secretary for Dominion Affairs, Paul Emrys-
Evans said in the House of Commons on 20 January 1944, London 
had ensured that Dublin was ‘fully alive to the importance of keeping 
these men properly interned’.89 The Department of Defence had already 
highlighted its unease about the possibility of German agents, posing 
as shipwrecked sailors, making contact with the IRA. Releasing them 
in Ireland, Defence argued, ‘would offer an ideal way for disaffected 
elements to secure the services of skilled technicians to carry on work 
detrimental to the security of the State’.90 Even without British pressure 
and regardless of international convention, Dublin was inclined to intern 
the survivors in any case.

Maffey argued that concessions to Germany, which would see any 
Germans released from interment, would ‘impair the Taoiseach’s pledge 
not to allow this country to be used as a base against us’. As might be 
expected, he approved of de Valera’s action in interning the sailors, 
and used that precedent to argue against any leeway being offered 
to Germany.91 In fact, when Walshe informed Norman Archer of the 
Dominions Office that the Kerlogue was seeking German survivors, 
Archer callously suggested that, since the location of the sailors was 
uncertain, Dublin might order the ships not to turn back and search 
for them.92 However, the decision to detain the sailors was eventually 
made before they had landed: when Maffey contacted Walshe in the 
early hours of 1 January and requested that Dublin intern them, Walshe 
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informed him that ‘he was certain that this was the intention of the 
Taoiseach’.93 This was in direct contrast to the orders given by Frederick 
Boland in November 1941, who pointed out to the Department of 
Justice that Allied convoy ships often carried Royal Navy gun crews 
and, if these men washed ashore in Ireland following a shipwreck, 
would be liable to internment if they were still in uniform. He asked 
that Justice instruct Gardaí encountering these men to ensure that 
they changed into civilian uniform while they were travelling through 
Eire.94 Likewise, in June 1944 the Defence Forces issued instructions 
that all naval craft and crew which came ashore in Ireland were to be 
taken into military custody and to wait for further orders; because 
there was no actual mention of internment, David Gray felt that this 
was an indication that de Valera wanted to secretly release all Allied 
naval crew who washed ashore in Eire.95 When measured against these, 
the decision to intern the German sailors can be seen to have been 
rooted overwhelmingly in diplomatic considerations, primarily the 
desire not to further antagonise Britain, combined with the fear of the 
IRA recruiting the sailors. However, given that at this stage of the war 
the IRA was disintegrating, the diplomatic explanation is the more 
likely one.

This is even more obvious when placed in the context of the arrange-
ment between Dublin and London regarding the landing of British 
sailors who were brought ashore at Moville, a coastal town in county 
Donegal. In September 1941, the British government requested that 
crew who were injured or ill while on British vessels in Lough Foyle 
be allowed to land at Moville and be ferried to Derry by ambulance, 
which was only a few miles away by road. Once the British had assured 
Dublin that the sailors would be in civilian clothes, de Valera himself 
gave his permission for the arrangement to proceed.96 The plan required 
the involvement of several government departments: the Department 
of Defence had to be notified about the possibility of British service 
personnel landing in Donegal, the Department of Justice had to instruct 
the Gardaí to allow the ambulances to cross the border into Northern 
Ireland, and the Revenue Commissioners had to be informed, as they 
controlled the customs posts along the border. The Gardaí were also 
instructed to observe and report on the operation of the arrangement.97 
The parallel is far from direct: transporting injured British sailors a few 
miles to hospital across neutral territory is very different from releasing 
over 160 German sailors to live in neutral Ireland for the duration of the 
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war. However, it still illustrates yet another aspect of Irish cooperation 
with the Allies which was denied to Germany, and it is very difficult 
to imagine de Valera agreeing so readily to a similar arrangement with 
Berlin.

As Michael Rynne observed in April 1944, detaining the German 
sailors only opened the door to further pressure from London. When 
Maffey urged de Valera to arrest and hold all Germans who landed in 
Ireland, Rynne noted that Maffey based this argument on ‘our departure 
from normal international practice in the case of the German naval 
ratings who were rescued by an Irish merchantman but, nevertheless, 
interned’.98 Having moved so far to meet Allied requests, de Valera had 
little scope to refuse them when they came looking for more.

Oliver Flanagan’s questions to de Valera in the Dáil regarding releases 
sparked another missive from Maffey in February 1944, again asking that 
the remaining Allied internees should be considered to have been on 
non-operational flights and therefore released. He referred to Dublin’s 
move away from international law in interning the German sailors, and 
again hinted at the preference offered to US aircrew: ‘I need not drag in’, 
he wrote, ‘the practice in the case of America, nor stress the anomalies 
to which it has led’.99 This was followed by yet another letter in April 
1944, claiming that the ‘spirit and morale’ of the Allied internees, since 
October 1943 re-located to Gormanstown, was suffering. Significantly, 
Maffey also mentioned that the British Dominions Secretary, Viscount 
Cranborne, had also taken an interest in the case. He clearly had realised 
that he alone did not carry sufficient weight to push de Valera into a 
decision, and the mention of Cranborne was designed to further pres-
surise the government.100

Because of the extensive concessions already offered by de Valera, 
his ability to refuse Maffey’s request was limited. Neutrality had been 
originally based, Rynne argued, on international law combined with de 
Valera’s pledge not to allow Eire to be used as a base to attack the UK. 
However, as the war went on, it became harder and harder to reconcile 
these two and Dublin tended to lean towards fulfilling the latter rather 
than rigidly adhering to international regulations. The internment 
regime as it evolved towards a firmly pro-Allied position had tended 
to reinforce the Taoiseach’s pledge, at the cost of international law. As 
Rynne stated, by 1944 Ireland had been forced by British pressure to 
leave international law ‘far behind’. He also recognised that the situation 
was largely of Ireland’s own making, as he advised the government to
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face the fact that since the first American plane landed in Ireland (July 1942) 
not a single US machine has been interned (28 landed or crashed) and the 
fact that since that date more than half of the forty or so British planes which 
landed were assisted to leave at once. In many of these cases appearances 
were altogether against the planes concerned but the presumption “non-
operational” won out; sometimes the issue was decided by the mere word of 
the interested belligerent.101

In other words, the government’s policy of offering extreme leniency 
towards the Allies, rather than placating them, actually led to demands 
for even more. Rynne’s observation that Dublin sometimes relied on the 
assurances of the Allies also directly contradicted Walshe’s statement to 
Hempel in December 1943, in which he explicitly told the German minis-
ter that Ireland ‘never accepted the word of the British or Americans as 
to the character, operational or otherwise, of a plane. We always had to 
examine the plane and see for ourselves’.102

De Valera attempted to resist Maffey’s request to release the remaining 
internees, saying in early June that Dublin had gone as far as it could. 
However, during a meeting between the two, Maffey effectively issued 
the Taoiseach an ultimatum: he was travelling to London where he would 
deliver the news of de Valera’s failure to cooperate on the issue.103 Maffey 
was suggesting that he would report Dublin’s refusal to the British cabinet, 
transferring responsibility out of Maffey’s hands to higher authorities. 
Potentially faced with another diplomatic incident following on so close 
from the so-called American Note in February 1944, de Valera agreed to 
the British request. On 13 June Maffey was informed that, ‘in view of the 
personal representations of Lord Cranborne ... and as a friendly gesture’, 
de Valera had decided to release the rest of the Allied internees. Along 
with the official typed memo recording this was an anonymous hand-
written note, which stated that the ‘concession made on representation’, 
presumably meaning that it was the actual intervention by Cranborne 
personally that had finally persuaded de Valera to act. Although this 
was not stated in the documents, fear of further economic restrictions 
on Ireland, and the success of the Allied landings at Normandy, which 
meant the end of the war had come into sight, probably also played a 
role in his decision.

The departure of the Allied internees effectively removed the 
diplomatic dimension of internment. The Germans’ lives increasingly 
revolved around domestic issues: the move to the new camp in 1944, 
the settling-in process of the sailors, the declining morale amongst the 
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internees and, as Germany crumbled, the need to find employment as 
funds from Berlin dried up.

No mention has yet been made in this chapter of Dublin’s attitude 
towards prisoners of war held abroad. This is because, from a diplomatic 
point of view, there was nothing that the government could do for them. 
Even had he wished to intervene, de Valera did not have the legal stand-
ing, the diplomatic clout or up-to-date information from prisoner of 
war camps to allow Dublin to act. When asked by concerned citizens 
to officially protest to Japan against the treatment of Allied prisoners in 
their hands, the government issued no response. External Affairs relied 
on newspaper clippings from the Irish Legation in Washington to keep 
abreast of events in the Far East, which were forwarded by the Irish 
minister there, Robert Brennan, detailing the depth of American public 
anger against the Japanese.104 Similarly, in June 1941, the Irish representa-
tive in Italy, Michael MacWhite, informed External Affairs that a priest 
had been sent to minister to Irish prisoners of war in Germany. External 
Affairs recommended that Dublin not get involved:

 ... there could be no objection to Irish priest going from Rome to look after 
spiritual needs of Irish prisoners if the latter want him. You should leave 
the matter to the Church authorities. It is their affair. Any intervention by 
you makes it political ... Also danger of our attitude of strict neutrality being 
misunderstood.105

It transpired that the priest had visited prisoner of war camps in which 
Irish were held separately and where the Germans were attempting 
to recruit prisoners for anti-British activities. Upon learning this, G2 
became intensely interested, but there remained little that Dublin could 
do except ask for further reports from MacWhite. Concerns over the 
international reaction also led the government to – with genuine reluc-
tance – turn down an International Red Cross request to take in injured 
prisoners of war to convalesce in Ireland. Neither the Irish military nor 
the Department of Local Government and Public Health had available 
hospital space to turn over to prisoners, but Rynne also remarked that 
‘the British might have political objections to allowing Axis prisoners 
to roam at large in Ireland’.106 Given London’s reaction to the arrival of 
the German sailors in 1944, this was an accurate observation. But, as 
Brendan O’Riordan observed, Germany was equally likely to object to the 
plan, as Ireland’s proximity to the UK meant that some of the prisoners 
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would try to escape back to their units and rejoin the war.107 Frederick 
Boland also had one eye on Ireland’s reputation amongst other European 
neutrals when discussing the issue. As he put it, Ireland was ‘one of the 
last few remaining neutral states to make some effort to co-operate’. If 
Dublin had to refuse, Boland wanted ‘some convincing explanation of 
the reasons why we find ourselves unable to do so’.108

Conclusion

In October 1942, Maffey wrote to Walshe regarding the Allied internees 
in K-Lines, reminding him that it was a serious Anglo-Irish issue.

The fact is that the handling of all matters relating to these internees is to-day 
far more important from an external than from an internal point of view. 
Owing to the force of circumstances to-day no Department of the Eire 
Government – and I include the Defence Department – can regard with 
indifference the imperilling of friendly relations with the Departments of the 
Allied Nations.109

Maffey’s warning was not required in Dublin. Throughout the war, the 
Irish government consistently prioritised the diplomatic aspects of 
belligerent internment. When it came to choosing between the applica-
tion of international law or maintaining the Irish-Allied relationship, the 
de Valera government invariably chose the latter, to the extent that the 
Irish internment system functioned in favour of the Allies. Concessions 
made to America from 1942 onwards inevitably led to the same conces-
sions being made for the UK. Ireland was not alone in choosing this 
path; with the exception of Switzerland, other European neutrals, even 
Franco’s Spain, altered their military internment systems in order 
to favour the Allies, usually after the US entered the war. Diplomacy 
became a major consideration in Ireland’s belligerent internment policy 
largely because there were neither precise rules laid out for the deten-
tion of belligerent personnel, nor any consensus among neutrals how to 
interpret international law. The signing of the 1949 Geneva Convention, 
theoretically at least, removed the need to take international relations 
into consideration but, as Ireland has never again been called upon to 
detain international military personnel, this is a theory that remains 
untested.
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Settling in and Earning Their 
Keep: Life in K-Lines

Abstract: K-Lines, the first of the belligerent internment 
camps in neutral Ireland, has consistently been misrepresented 
as a prisoner of war camp, and consequently the extensive 
concessions offered to the internees have been depicted as 
strange and bizarre oddities. The fact that the internees were 
offered generous parole and were allowed to leave the camp 
daily has been a particular point of wonder. However, as this 
chapter shows, conditions such as these were also prevalent 
in Switzerland, which interned far more belligerent personnel 
than Ireland. The de Valera government consciously modelled 
its internment policy on European precedents, paying 
particular attention to Sweden and Switzerland. At the same 
time, Dublin was involved in the everyday lives of prisoners 
of war abroad, through the sending of Red Cross parcels and 
personal packages to camps all over Europe.
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The 1998 film The Brylcreem Boys, written by Terence Ryan and starring 
Gabriel Byrne, is a loose depiction of life for belligerent internees within 
K-Lines during the Second World War. Focussing on the rivalry between 
a Canadian RAF pilot and an aristocratic German officer, the film is set 
in 1941 and contains the usual array of Irish cinematic stereotypes: bouts 
of fighting, soft accents, red-haired women and spontaneous displays of 
Irish dancing. It also neatly conveys one of the most persistent miscon-
ceptions about the belligerent internment camp at the Curragh. During 
an early scene, steely-eyed Captain Deegan of the Irish army arrests 
the main character, a Canadian pilot named Miles Keogh, and then 
announces solemnly that the RAF crew are in the custody of the Irish 
army as prisoners of war. Like the fictional Deegan, historians, journal-
ists and other commentators consistently and erroneously have over the 
years compared K-Lines to prisoner of war camps and have therefore 
been astonished to discover the easy life of the internees in the Curragh. 
The aspect that attracts the most attention is parole, and the fact that 
belligerent internees were allowed to leave the camp on an almost daily 
basis is universally commented upon as being the most bizarre feature of 
life in the Curragh.

This consistent emphasis on K-Lines as being a cosy and comfortable 
place to while away the war years represents a fundamental misun-
derstanding of the purpose of the camp and how it should be viewed. 
Rather than being seen and depicted as an exceptionally liberal prisoner 
of war camp, it needs to be placed in its proper context alongside the 
belligerent internment camps run by other European neutral states, 
particularly Sweden and Switzerland. During the film when Keogh 
protests that as he has landed in a neutral country and he should not 
therefore be arrested, Captain Deegan snarls at him that Ireland deals 
with crashed fliers differently than Switzerland. The actual truth is that 
Switzerland was one country which assistant secretary of External Affairs 
Frederick Boland specifically mentioned several times as being a model 
upon which Dublin based its belligerent internment regime during the 
early phase of the war. Seen against this background, the admittedly 
tolerant conditions within K-Lines are not an aberration or a uniquely 
and typically Irish way of dealing with the situation: in fact, the camp 
was run along the same principles as were applied in both Sweden and 
Switzerland. Both countries offered extensive parole arrangements and 
held internees in loosely guarded confinement. Comparing K-Lines with 
prisoner of war camps does not offer us any useful insights, as it is not 
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a comparison of like with like. Depending on where they were captured 
and who their captor was, the experiences of prisoners of war diverged 
wildly. Allied troops in German hands, who were by and large treated 
well, had a far more difficult life than the men in the Curragh, and their 
incarceration experiences cannot remotely be compared. The analogy 
becomes even more absurd when applied to Soviet prisoners in German 
hands, Axis prisoners held in the USSR, or Allied troops captured by the 
Japanese in the Far East. There is simply no way of locating belligerent 
internment within the ‘concentration camp universe’,1 which existed in 
Europe during the Second World War. As Laurence Rees has observed, 
the variety of prisoner experience during the Second World War was 
unprecedented.2 Therefore, it is only logical that internment of belliger-
ent personnel by neutrals be removed from its current flawed context of 
prisoner of war incarceration.

The aim of any combatant during a war is to destroy the enemy’s 
capacity to fight, primarily by killing, wounding or capturing members 
of the armed forces of its opponent. Each belligerent therefore detains 
as many prisoners of war as possible and guards them closely, as each 
prisoner taken and held represents a measurable reduction of the 
enemy’s fighting power. The huge resources that are devoted to holding 
prisoners of war are justified by this fact. Niall Ferguson has suggested 
that warring nations make use of military prisoners in four ways: as a 
source of intelligence, for labour, as hostages or as an example in order 
to persuade other members of the enemy forces to surrender.3 None of 
these categories apply to belligerent internees in Ireland or in any other 
neutrals during the Second World War. Although G2 questioned each 
airman and sailor who landed in Ireland, they were not captured for this 
purpose. The sole reason Dublin detained combatant personnel was to 
fulfil Ireland’s international duty as a neutral country. Failure to intern, 
or displaying excessive favouritism to one over the other, would lead to 
questions over the validity of neutrality. This is precisely what happened 
from 1943 onwards when Berlin protested against the constant release of 
US aircrew downed in Eire. Thus, from the very beginning of the war, 
Dublin’s motivation to detain belligerent personnel was very different 
from the warring powers. Although the first detainees were initially 
classified by the government as prisoners of war, we have already seen 
that this was only to allow the Irish authorities to establish a precedent 
for how they should be treated, and to ensure that the provisions of the 
Geneva Conventions could be applied to them. From October 1940 
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onwards, once the Department of External Affairs assumed the leading 
role in running the camp, the internees ceased to be regarded as prison-
ers and were treated accordingly.

A close analysis of the conditions within K-Lines shows that restric-
tions were gradually eased as the Irish authorities became more and 
more confident in handling the internees. What is also evident is that, 
despite some suspicion from Irish military officers towards the belliger-
ent personnel, the government clearly felt that there was no danger in 
allowing the internees to roam around the countryside and interact with 
Irish civilians. The parole area was steadily increased in size, which led to 
longer and longer hours of liberty. Visits to private houses were eventu-
ally allowed, with a few exceptions. Once the British internees departed 
from the Curragh in October 1943, the rules governing the remaining 
Germans were relaxed considerably. German personnel moved to 
Dublin to work in the German Legation, to attend university courses, 
or to find employment in the local area. None of this escaped the notice 
of the British government, and MI5 was kept informed about the extent 
of parole given to the German internees in the run-up to the invasion of 
Normandy.4 The issue of paid employment became particularly impor-
tant to the German internees as Germany collapsed in 1944–45, and 
payments for their upkeep ceased to be forwarded by Berlin.

In addition to internment camps in other neutral countries, the other 
most obvious parallel with K-Lines was Tintown, the internment camp 
which held republican detainees. Although the comparison is far from 
perfect, as the IRA were seen as far more dangerous and treated much 
more harshly by the Irish state, these internees shared the same physi-
cal space as the belligerent personnel. Both camps were located in the 
Curragh and were less than one mile apart. The Irish military control-
led both, the O/C of the Curragh oversaw both camps and the guards 
rotated between the two. The relationship between the state and the IRA 
was one of bitter mutual hostility. During the war, five IRA members 
were executed by firing squad and one was hanged. Three more were 
allowed to die on hunger strike, while the IRA killed six members of the 
police during the conflict. Life in Tintown was bleak, in comparison to 
K-Lines. The men were kept in huts, often with 30 in each, and the lack 
of proper washing facilities meant that hygiene was a constant problem. 
Convicted IRA members were sometimes transferred to the Curragh to 
serve the remainder of their imprisonment, as happened with the writer 
Brendan Behan who arrived in September 1943 to serve out a 14-year 
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sentence for the attempted murder of a police officer. Parole was offered 
to the inmates, but those who ‘signed out’ were ostracised and shunned 
by their comrades if they availed of it. The detainees themselves were 
split into various factions and there was continual ideological turmoil 
amongst the inmates. MI5 reported in May 1944 that the IRA was so 
riddled with splits that ‘it could scarcely be described as an organisation’.5 
The tension in Tintown culminated in the shooting dead of an internee 
by the PAs in December 1940, following a riot and the burning of huts to 
protest a cut in the butter ration. There were also persistent accusations 
of beatings and mistreatment of internees and prisoners.6

When the decision was made to intern the crew of the FW-200 
Condor which crashed in Kerry on 20 August 1940, no preparations 
had been made to receive or accommodate belligerent service person-
nel. However, the government could not simply release the German 
crew as it had been doing with the British since the start of the war; 
London would never agree to such a policy and therefore they had 
to be interned. The order to set aside K-Lines as the internment 
camp was not signed until 24 August,7 four days after the Condor 
had crashed and then confirmed by higher authority on 28 August.8 
K-Lines consisted of a series of bungalows, which were turned over 
to the Germans and surrounded with barbed wire. They were quickly 
visited by Hempel, who provided them with board games and a radio.9 
Amongst the first internees was Oberleutnant Kurt Mollenhauer, the 
senior German officer, who would become a constant irritant to the 
camp authorities.

The lack of preparation was again highlighted once the first British 
pilot was detained. Flying Officer Paul Mayhew’s Hurricane, having shot 
down a HE-111, ran out of fuel and landed in a field in Wexford on 29 
September 1940. The Cabinet was notified in October 1940 that, as there 
was no accommodation ready for him, he was held in Ceannt barracks 
at the Curragh, where he was fed in the officers’ mess10 and had access 
to their sporting and leisure facilities. An extension to K-Lines was 
specially constructed for him and any future Allied internees, and he 
was moved to his new home on 17 October. He remained the lone Allied 
internee until December 1940, when five further British pilots eventually 
joined him. The camp now consisted of two sections, ‘G’ camp for the 
Axis and ‘B’ camp for the Allies,11 which were separated by high barbed 
wire fences and the whole of K-Lines was further surrounded by a high 
fence and guard posts.
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In this early phase, primary responsibility for K-Lines rested with the 
Department of Defence and, in particular, Thomas McNally, O/C of the 
Curragh command. Initially both the IRA and belligerent internment 
camps came under the same administration, until a separate establish-
ment was created for the belligerents only in July 1942.12 McNally’s 
correspondence shows that he was deeply suspicious of the belligerent 
internees, particularly the Germans, and he was determined not to 
give them any opportunity to escape. ‘These prisoners’ he wrote of the 
Luftwaffe crew on 12 September 1940,

are the type who consider it a duty to escape at the first available opportunity. 
As a race they are very thorough and methodical and I feel they will avail 
themselves of any laxity in the regulations which govern their internment. 
(Irish Military Archives, S/231, McNally to O’hAodh, 12 September 1940)

As a precaution, he had men stationed in the internees living quarters in 
order to prevent any tunnelling.13 He ordered that the gardening tools, 
which were given to the German internees as recreation, be collected 
from them every night. Because of the fear of escape, they were not 
allowed to travel to Dublin to visit their Legation, but consular visits 
were to be unsupervised.14 He further refused to let them have alcohol.

Following complaints from the German minister, Boland wrote to 
Liam Archer of G2, urging a reduction in the security surrounding 
K-Lines and suggesting that, rather than a strict list of rules being drawn 
up, that internee issues be tackled as they arose.15 In his reply, Archer 
admitted that McNally had been over zealous in guarding the internees 
and that the military had inadvertently been applying the same security 
to the belligerent internees as to the IRA detainees:

I personally thought that our difficulty in handling these internees was due to the 
fact that we had hitherto been compelled to exercise a somewhat rigid control 
on the freedom of the internees we had hitherto been responsible for. We had, 
furthermore, no previous experience of handling internees of the belligerent 
class and accordingly it was conceivable we might unconsciously be applying to 
these German internees our regulations regarding internees of Irish nationality. 
(Irish Military Archives, S/231, Archer to O’hAodh, 6 September, 1940)

The solution, Archer continued, was to ease off the restrictions and to 
allow the belligerent internees as much freedom as was possible, without 
allowing them to escape. In his opinion, keeping them ‘as contented 
with their lot here as possible’ would ‘minimise their anxiety and quite 
natural desire to escape from our custody’. The best way to do this was by 
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‘keeping their minds occupied and in keeping their bodies healthy and 
thereby reduce the monotony of their confinement’.16

Despite resistance from McNally, who appears to have taken this 
decision as a personal rebuke, from this point on there was a gradual 
loosening of restrictions in K-Lines. In a letter to O’hAodh in January 
1941, McNally protested that he was under ‘adverse criticism’ from 
External Affairs, but that he understood that belligerent internees were 
to be treated differently and much more leniently than the IRA. ‘It was 
explained at great length’ he complained,

that these men were not to be considered Internees in the sense that we look 
upon Internees in No.1 camp. Analogous conditions in Switzerland were also 
explained in detail with a view to showing that there was not the necessity for 
a great deal of rigour, and in fact the maximum concessions should be made 
consistent with precautions against their attempting to escape.17

The most important of these concessions was parole. This was left at 
McNally’s discretion, but it was clear that the authorities were eager to 
grant it. McNally was told by de Valera himself in June 1941 that the 
internees were ‘to be treated with the utmost friendliness and to be 
permitted the greatest liberty in the matter of parole’.18 In November 
1941 it was again stressed that ‘the internees should be facilitated to the 
utmost in the granting of parole’.19 At a conference in November 1940, 
it was agreed that the German internees would be allowed to exercise 
outside their compound and to visit the cinema, upon applying for parole 
in writing.20 Under instructions issued by the Air Ministry in February 
1940, Mayhew was not allowed to accept any form of parole unless he 
was specifically ordered otherwise.21 However, McNally suggested that he 
could still leave the camp if he gave his ‘personal word of honour’ not to 
escape, as he was basically living in B camp by himself. Even if Mayhew 
was not prepared to do this, McNally was willing to allow him to leave 
the camp under armed escort. It was further noted that Mayhew’s father, 
who had travelled to Ireland, should be allowed to visit.22

Eventually, after trial and error, three types of parole were formalised 
and offered to the internees. Camp parole allowed them to leave their 
compound and remain within the Curragh complex, for the purposes 
of exercise, ‘collective recreating, bathing, route marches’ and related 
activities. This was offered between the hours of nine in the morning to 
five in the evening and an undertaking had to be signed by the senior 
internee. Local parole gave internees the opportunity to explore the 
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countryside surrounding the camp, up to a maximum of a ten-mile 
radius, although this was adjusted as the war went on to take in more 
villages and towns. Men on local parole had to be in possession of a 
pass and sign out at the guard hut at the entrance to K-Lines. The final 
type was special parole, which was granted to internees who wished to 
travel to Dublin. Before leaving the camp, internees had to sign their 
parole form, which stated that while they were outside the wire, they 
would not

make or endeavour to make any arrangements whatever to seek or accept any 
assistance whatever with a view to the escape of myself or my fellow intern-
ees, that I will not engage in any military activity or activities contrary to the 
interests of Éire, and that I will not go outside the permitted area.23

This formula was based on the Swedish model and drafted by External 
Affairs after Boland had studied the parole forms offered by the Swedish 
military to their belligerent internees.24

It is uncertain when the British government reversed its policy on 
parole, but reports from McNally show Mayhew asking to be allowed to 
visit Dublin to go shopping in November 194025 and by the end of January 
1941, new parole conditions were put in place for both sets of internees. 
By now the camp was filling up rapidly and by the end of March 1941, 
there were sixteen British and fifteen Germans.26 Each group were 
allowed out to play golf, to swim or to attend religious services. They 
were also permitted to attend the cinema in the village of Newbridge, or 
to go shopping in the local area, but remained at all times under escort.27 
Germans and British were paroled at separate times: Germans were 
allowed to visit the cinema in Newbridge on Wednesday and Sunday, 
the Allied internees on Tuesday and Saturday.28 When leaving the camp, 
internees undertook by to return by a certain time and dress in civilian 
attire when signing their parole form. The German Legation paid for 
clothes for its internees, while the British personnel bought their own 
clothing, and also wore some that were donated by the British Legion.29 
McNally insisted that, while outside the camp, internees were not to visit 
private houses or pubs, and would be under escort the entire time. This 
irritated both sets of internees, who felt that since they had signed their 
parole forms and pledged not to escape while outside, they did not need 
to be watched. However, McNally pointed out that the escorts were not 
there to spy on the internees, but instead to ‘ensure that no subversive 
elements will interfere with them’.30
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In May 1941, after a further influx of internees, the Provost Marshal 
reviewed the situation in K-Lines. B camp now consisted of one bunga-
low and one hut, each containing bedrooms, separate sitting rooms for 
officers and NCOs, a recreational room, bathrooms and shower rooms. 
G camp was made up of five bungalows with a total capacity of 32, but 
both camps were ready for expansion. Parole and other recreation had 
also settled into a pattern:

Internees are granted parole for exercise purposes each day from 14.00 to 
17.00 hours. They have permission during these periods to play golf at the 
Curragh Golf Links and tennis at the Command Tennis club. Parole is granted 
3 mornings weekly for the purpose of swimming in the Camp Swimming 
Baths and also on four evenings weekly to facilitate the internees visiting the 
Picture Houses at Newbridge and the Curragh Camp. Table Tennis equip-
ment is available and Wireless sets are installed in both Camps.31

It was around this time that local people began to offer the use of horses 
to the internees,32 and in June 1941 McNally agreed to this, with the 
proviso that they were not allowed to go hunting. Parole conditions 
were further eased at this meeting; the area was now extended to include 
the town of Naas, internees could attend local dances and visits to local 
houses were now permitted, as long as there were no ‘demonstrations by 
local residents of sympathy with any particular side’. Emphasising the 
ever-present diplomatic aspects of the camp, all these concessions were 
subject to confirmation by de Valera himself. McNally, however, felt that 
the new conditions would present no difficulties, given that the internees 
had been ‘accepted by the local inhabitants’.33

It is concessions such as these which have caused past writers to 
comment on the strange nature of the camp. However, the liberties 
that the men in K-Lines enjoyed were replicated in belligerent intern-
ment camps in Switzerland. Here interned US airmen were kept in 
small isolated Alpine villages such as Adelboden, Neuchatel, Wengen 
and Davos, where they were accommodated in hotels and were able to 
supplement the Swiss army rations they received by purchasing food in 
local restaurants.34 Like those held in Ireland, Allied internees passed the 
time by playing board games, visiting the cinema, sport, photography 
and mingling with the locals. Internees in Switzerland also spent a good 
deal of time learning to ski.35 By a strange quirk of fate, the internee 
hotel in Davos was located directly across the street from the German 
Legation.36 One American internee recalled that he was permitted to 
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travel to Zurich on a day pass and, in his opinion, if more travel had been 
allowed, there would have been considerably less trouble in the camps.37

At the same time, although the Irish government had no control or 
influence over how Irish prisoners of war were treated in Axis camps, 
Dublin still inadvertently became involved in their daily lives. One of the 
lifelines that prisoners of war clung to were Red Cross parcels and pack-
ages from home. Once Germany began to collapse in 1945 and prisoners 
of war were sent on long, meandering marches to avoid being liberated, 
Red Cross parcels could quite literally be life saving,38 and authors have 
depicted desperate and hungry prisoners fighting over them in the last 
months of the war.39 Although they had not given it any thought prior to 
the outbreak of war, despite the large number of Irish in the British forces, 
the de Valera government was forced to establish a policy on the send-
ing of parcels and correspondence to prisoners of war abroad, as it soon 
became clear that many Irish families had a member in Axis captivity, or 
wanted to send parcels to prisoners of other nationalities held abroad. 
Due to the lack of any forward thinking, it took until 1943 for a package 
sending scheme to be established, and then only after much discussion, 
and disagreement. In addition, the Department of External Affairs was 
soon fielding many queries from Irish citizens, anxious for any infor-
mation about their loved ones. The response to both of these issues was 
largely improvised and, although some patterns can be identified, the 
government generally reacted to situation as they arose. Their advice to 
families of prisoners of war was often erratic and contradictory.

The life of the men in K-Lines became intertwined with Dublin’s 
lack of policy on correspondence and parcels for prisoners of war held 
abroad in 1943. There were two types of parcels sent to prisoners during 
the Second World War: official Red Cross packages and ‘next-of-kin’ 
parcels, which were sent by the families but vetted and repackaged by the 
Red Cross. As the Irish Red Cross did not independently send parcels to 
Irish prisoners abroad, the ‘next-of-kin’ package was the one most often 
sent from Ireland. The Society did, however, send packages to prisoners 
of other nationalities and to the internees in the Curragh. In December 
1939 the Irish Red Cross contacted External Affairs requesting infor-
mation on how to send parcels to German prisoners in British hands;  
de Valera neatly sidestepped this issue by suggesting that they forward 
the query to the International Red Cross in Switzerland.40 In January 
1940, the Department of Posts and Telegraphs circulated instructions to 
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all post offices on how to handle correspondence for prisoners of war, 
based on information sent to Dublin by the Dominions Office.

Following this, Posts and Telegraphs asked External Affairs if it was 
feasible to follow the British example and establish a free parcel-sending 
process in Eire, with the assistance of the Irish Red Cross, but this was 
vetoed by Michael Rynne in August 1941. He suggested that the govern-
ment becoming directly involved in the sending of prisoner parcels 
was ‘undesirable from the political point of view’, and he felt that the 
present system of referring all queries to the British Red Cross as the 
best available option.41 Rynne’s allusion to the ‘political point of view’ 
undoubtedly referred to neutrality and the publicity that might attach to 
the sending of parcels to Irish members of the British forces. The same 
caution was evident when the Irish Red Cross suggested cooperating 
with the Yugoslav government in exile to send food packages, purchased 
in Ireland, to Yugoslav prisoners in German custody; Boland replied 
that while the de Valera had no objection to the plan, other government 
departments needed to be consulted and ‘matters of this kind are more 
appropriately dealt with between the National Red Cross Societies them-
selves’, rather than the government.42 In July 1943, the Irish Red Cross 
agreed to send food packages to Polish prisoners of war in Germany; one 
of the oddest aspects of this scheme was that while Ireland provided the 
food, the government had to obtain the sanction of the British Ministry 
of Food to secure cans to send it in. Empty food tins were supplied by 
London on the understanding that they would be used to send food to 
the UK only, which emphasised both the food situation in Britain and 
the lack of manufacturing in Ireland.43 The parcels, packed with butter, 
milk, stewed steak and corned beef, eventually reached the International 
Red Cross in February 1944.44

Their willingness to assist prisoners of war in Europe notwithstanding, 
one matter which the de Valera government showed a marked reluctance 
to become involved in was sending packages to Irish prisoners of war 
directly. As already noted, Dublin had no legal standing to intervene on 
behalf of Irish members of the Allied forces, regardless of how they were 
treated in Axis captivity. When approached by relatives, External Affairs 
invariably recommended that they direct their concerns to the Irish Red 
Cross. When the Irish Legation in Berlin was asked in late 1944 if the 
Irish Red Cross was interested in sending food parcels directly to Irish 
prisoners in Germany, in addition to any they might receive from other 
sources, the Irish Chargé d’Affaires in Berlin, Con Cremin, explained 
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that they were cared for by the British Red Cross and Nicholas Nolan 
at External Affairs confirmed that Dublin was not going to take the 
matter further.45 Presumably this was to avoid allegations of unneutral 
behaviour, but it might also attract unwelcome attention to the number 
of Irish in the British forces. However, External Affairs sanctioned the 
sending of parcels through the Irish Red Cross to individual prisoners 
of various other nationalities, and in August 1943 Walshe confirmed that 
this included Axis prisoners held in the UK. Some had already been sent 
‘without any difficulty or question of principle arising’.46 Although it 
may sound harsh, this was undoubtedly the correct attitude for a neutral 
to adopt, as Dublin could not claim to be outside the conflict but also 
directly favouring Irish prisoners of war. The memoirs of Jack Harte, a 
Dubliner who was captured while serving in the British forces in the 
Mediterranean, make clear that he and his British comrades received 
Red Cross parcels, although the frequency of their arrival was irregular. 
In Jack’s case, he recalled that they came from the Canadian Red Cross.47

One of the major problems faced by relatives of Irish prisoners of war 
was that, as Dublin had signed but never actually ratified the 1929 Geneva 
Convention, Irish civilians had to pay the cost of sending correspondence 
to camps, while inhabitants of those countries which had adopted the 
Convention could send them free of charge. As Irish parcels were gener-
ally routed through Britain, this meant that the majority of senders had 
only to pay postage from Ireland to the UK but, as the Irish Red Cross 
Society pointed out in September 1942, in some cases even this relatively 
small cost was hard to bear for some families, particularly if parcels 
were sent regularly or in multiples. In some cases, Irish prisoners of war 
were in desperate need. In early 1941, the Irish Red Cross received letters 
from Irish prisoners in Germany, stating that their British comrades had 
received parcels, but that Irish prisoners did not. In reply, the Red Cross 
informed the unfortunate men that personal parcels had to be routed 
through the British Red Cross, which had responsibility for all members 
of the British forces.48

Parcels to other Irish abroad – civilians interned in Germany, for 
example – had to be sent directly to the Red Cross in Geneva, which 
resulted in significant financial outlay on even a small bundle.49 There 
were around 150 Irish citizens in Europe who had been released from 
internment and who were being supported by Eire diplomatic repre-
sentatives. In the case of a Waterford man who had been interned in 
Germany as a member of the British merchant navy, but subsequently 
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released, neither the government nor his family were able even to send 
him a package of new clothing. The Red Cross could not assist him as 
he was no longer classified as a prisoner of war, and the British govern-
ment refused to allow the shipment of parcels to non-internees, as ‘there 
can be no guarantee that clothing will not be diverted by the enemy to 
other purposes’.50 The Irish Red Cross urged the government to ratify the 
postal sections of the 1929 Convention, in order to assist Irish civilians, 
internees and prisoners of war.

The other major obstacle facing those who wished to send packages 
abroad was the wartime censorship of correspondence. Staff in Posts 
and Telegraphs did not examine packages which were forwarded by 
Irish civilians to the British or International Red Cross, as they knew 
the parcels would be opened and repacked, and any prohibited items 
removed by the charitable societies abroad. The list of banned objects 
was formidable. Articles that would be useful in escapes, such as binocu-
lars or compasses were obvious, but also forbidden were complete suits, 
mirrors, candles, books, cigarettes and certain types of food.51 There were 
consistent complaints from the postal authorities in the UK that parcels 
from Ireland were either incorrectly packed or were full of banned 
items, a situation which would have been avoided if the government 
had addressed the issue and sent clear guidelines to the public sooner. 
Michael Rynne at External Affairs suggested that the Irish Red Cross 
collect items for prisoners and despatch parcels independently of Britain, 
but ran into resistance from both Post and Telegraphs and the Red Cross 
itself, both of whom objected that they did not have the staff to open 
and examine each individual package. As Rynne noted, the issue ‘bristles 
with minor difficulties’.52

Assistant secretary of External Affairs Frederick Boland had a much 
more straightforward view of the problem. Writing to Rynne on 14 
January 1941, he dismissed the Irish Red Cross objections entirely:

If the Irish Red Cross is going to be a proper national Society and not a mere 
sub-agency of the British Society, it must accustom itself to undertaking this 
sort of work. I cannot understand why there should be any difficulty about 
getting volunteers to examine and repack these parcels. If there are people 
in this country, as we know there are, willing to make up the parcels, attend 
knitting classes to make comforts for the troops, etc., why should it be impos-
sible to recruit a voluntary staff which, working under the supervision of an 
officer from the Censor’s office, would undertake the necessary examination 
and repacking work ... They should be told that this is the kind of work that 



Settling in and Earning Their Keep

DOI: 10.1057/9781137446039.0006

they were set up to do and that, if they drop into the habit of constantly look-
ing to the British Society and conducting their international contacts through 
them, they might as well not be here at all. (National Archives of Ireland, 
DFA 241/126. Boland to Rynne, 14 January 1941)

Furthermore, the clearly irritated Boland contended that although Ireland 
had not ratified the 1929 Convention, it had still signed it and was therefore 
morally, if not strictly legally, bound to abide by its provisions. Therefore 
Dublin should allow the families of prisoners to send parcels free of 
charge, with the cost being borne by the Irish State.53 At the root of his 
annoyance was the fact that he hated ‘the idea of referring our own citizens 
to the British Red Cross Society when we have a Red Cross Society of our 
own’.54 Rynne agreed with these sentiments: writing to R.J. Cremins, the 
assistant secretary at the Department of Posts and Telegraphs, he lamented 
the fact that the government had to become involved at all, but the hoped-
for assistance from the Irish Red Cross ‘did not materialise and does not 
seem likely to materialise within any appreciable time’.55 In one celebrated 
example, local people in Kerry took matters into their own hands. In 
July 1943, a British flying boat carrying letters from British prisoners in 
Japanese captivity crashed into Mount Brandon, scattering thousands of 
letters across the mountainside. Locals who came upon the scene helped 
the survivors and also pieced together many of the letters before posting 
them through ordinary mail to the intended recipients in Britain.56

Because of the lack of any preparation for the matter, it was not until 
February 1943 that the Department of Finance sanctioned the creation 
of a free-parcel scheme,57 which came about after long and complex 
negotiations between the government departments. The Department 
of Supplies, headed by Sean Lemass, agreed to issue an extra 75 cloth-
ing coupons, as well as extra soap, for next-of-kin to send to prisoners 
of war ‘on the condition that both the next-of-kin and the prisoner of 
war were Irish nationals’.58 Tragically, many parcels sent to prisoners in 
Japanese custody were never delivered to the camps, or arrived years 
after dispatch, or were plundered by the camp guards.59

One of the reasons why the negotiations between the departments 
took so long was that the issue of correspondence for prisoners of war 
abroad became entangled with the matter of sending parcels to the 
belligerent internees in the Curragh. The draft instructions issued by 
the Department of Posts and Telegraphs included instructions on send-
ing personal packages to ‘prisoners interned in Eire or in the United 
Kingdom’ through the Irish Red Cross, and detailed a long list of items 
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that were prohibited.60 Secretary of the Department of Defence, Peadar 
MacMahon, objected to this, pointing out that the internees in K-Lines 
were held under Emergency Powers Order no. 170 and ‘the description 
“prisoners of war” is not properly applicable to them’. He also noted that, 
unlike prisoners of war, no restrictions were placed on items posted to 
the belligerent internees, that the camp authorities would examine all 
packages received and therefore there was no need to send correspond-
ence via the Irish Red Cross. He finally suggested that a new section be 
inserted to the Posts and Telegraphs pamphlet dealing specifically with 
post to K-Lines.61 An External Affairs note in February 1943 agreed with 
the point that internees were in a special category and ‘not (strictly 
speaking) prisoners of war at all’.62 Boland concurred, confirming that 
‘internees in neutral countries are not prisoners of war and it is wrong to 
refer to them as such’.63 Rynne suggested omitting the belligerent internees 
entirely from any postal arrangement,64 and the Bureau of Information 
let it be known that they did not want the public to know they could send 
any items they wished to the men in the Curragh. ‘Scarcely any citizens 
are piling gifts on the internees at the moment’ wrote Rynne, ‘and it is 
not desired to start any such ramp.’65 G2 further reinforced this attitude 
and, as Rynne noted, military intelligence certainly did not

welcome the prospect of dealing with a “fan mail” from the “Friends of 
Germany” and their British counterparts. The present censorship staff could 
scarcely cope with the extra work, apart from the political aspects of the thing 
which the Department of Defence feel are objectionable.66

The leaflet eventually issued to the public made no mention of post to the 
internment camps in the Curragh. Rynne felt that the instructions were 
unbalanced as they referred to people ‘in the custody of the Tripartite 
Powers’ only, but hoped that this and ‘Other unavoidable anomalies aris-
ing out of the one-sided nature of the present arrangements have been 
concealed as well as possible in the final draft’.67 This was unavoidable 
as the majority of prisoner correspondence leaving Ireland was for Irish 
members of the British forces in Axis captivity.

Despite the official reluctance, the belligerent internees in K-Lines did 
not have any issues with receiving parcels and a steady stream of gifts and 
letters flowed into their camp, most of them consisting of clothing, food 
and alcohol. G2 was well aware that German internees were evading the 
regulations by posting letters while out on parole,68 but External Affairs 
pointed out that censorship in K-Lines was based on the model Sweden 
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imposed on its belligerent internees.69 In addition, the Irish Society of 
Friends requested and received permission to send sports equipment 
to the German internees, although Peadar MacMahon cautioned the 
donors that items would be distributed to all the internees as equally 
as possible:70 some may have been given to the Allied internees. Lists of 
donations from the German Legation in November 1940 contain portraits 
of Hitler and Göring, books, wine, chocolate, cigarettes, sausages, fruit, 
brandy, champagne and whiskey,71 all of which was carefully recorded by 
G2.72 The Allied internees received their own fair share of gifts, including 
a piano from the Cementation Company in county Kildare.73

Various Red Cross societies also forwarded care packages to the 
military internees during the conflict. The German Red Cross sent 
parcels of vitamins,74 while the Irish society sent annual food hampers 
at Christmastime. For example, in December 1942, both B and G camps 
received 12 bottles of whiskey, three turkeys and two hams.75 The British 
Red Cross regularly sent clothing to the Allied internees, but the most 
frequent and most welcome deliveries were of cigarettes. Records in the 
Irish Military Archives show a constant flow of cigarettes being deliv-
ered by the British and German societies. After the British internees 
were released and the German Legation fell into financial difficulty, the 
Irish Red Cross sent supplies of tobacco to the Germans; for example 
in December 1944 the senior internee officer acknowledged receipt of 
2,000 cigarettes at camp no. 1B.76

However, there were many complaints from the internees regarding 
the conditions in K-Lines. In January 1941, the Allied internees submit-
ted a long list of grievances, including the standard of hygiene in their 
kitchen, the lack of variety in the diet, the shortage of bathing facilities 
and a desire for more furniture.77 In February 1942, they protested against 
a lack of fuel for their rooms and washing facilities78 and in 1943 they 
suspected that fleas had infested the huts, which was investigated and 
rejected by the army medical service.79 The indefatigable Mollenhauer, 
on the other hand, wrote to the army authorities so often criticising G 
camp that McNally described him as a ‘somewhat neurotic’ person who 
made ‘interminable complaints about the conditions of internment.’80 
Like the Allied internees, he too complained about the lack of fuel in 
October 1941, whereupon he was informed that his men had received 
twice the amount allowed to Irish army officers.81 He would later object 
to articles in the Irish Defence Forces journal, An Cosantóir, delays in 
posting internee letters, the showing of British war films in the Curragh 
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cinema, the lack of proper cleaning brushes and cloths in the German 
huts and the scarcity of furniture in their rooms. On this last point, 
Boland noted that the International Red Cross had set a standard level 
for officers furnishings in prisoner of war camps, and he felt that Dublin 
‘would be wise not to give either set of belligerents any ground for valid 
complaint on this score’.82

Because the Curragh was a long-established military town, many 
retired soldiers and officers had settled in the area surrounding the camp 
and once the internees had received permission to visit local houses, 
they were soon in demand for social events. Initially, they had to request 
special parole for this, and this was usually granted provided that the 
men agreed to return to the camp by 8 AM. From that point on, Allied 
internees simply applied for the 8 AM deadline every time they signed 
out, without needing to have a specified event to attend.83 The first over-
night parole, meaning that he did not have to return to sign back in, 
was granted in April 1942 to a British internee whose wife had come to 
Ireland to visit, and this was soon extended to all internees whose wives 
were in the parole area.84

Boland’s aim in allowing as much leniency as possible to the internees 
was to avoid any incidents at the camp. Given that the opposing internees 
lived in such close proximity to each other, there was always the poten-
tial for trouble. However, Boland’s policy proved to be the correct one 
because there were very few incidents between both sets of internees. 
In December 1942, the Germans sent the Allies a Christmas gift of wine 
and a cake, but it took the personal intervention of an Irish officer to 
persuade the men in B camp to accept it and reciprocate, sending several 
bottles of brandy.85 The most serious occurrence was a brief fight between 
two Germans and a Polish RAF pilot named Jan Zimek after a dance in 
May 1943, in which Zimek was injured when punched off his bicycle by 
one of the Germans. Despite one author dramatically and completely 
erroneously claiming that Zimek was almost killed by the Germans,86 the 
official report stated that while he may have had a fracture, he was not ‘in 
any immediate danger of death’.87 He was shortly thereafter transferred 
to Northern Ireland on compassionate grounds, although the real reason 
was that Boland feared Zimek would cause trouble if he were to return 
to K-Lines.88 Following this, both sets of internees were allowed out on 
parole until three o’ clock daily, but after 3 PM parole was curtailed and 
each were permitted to leave only on alternate days.89 Both the Allied 
and German minister agreed to this, and the Allied internees accepted 



Settling in and Earning Their Keep

DOI: 10.1057/9781137446039.0006

the decision ‘philosophically’, but Mollenhauer was ‘troublesome’ when 
informed. Maffey and Hempel took the opportunity to press de Valera to 
establish separate camps.90

De Valera’s decision to release 20 of the Allied internees in October 
1943, with the remaining eleven also being set free in June 1944, largely 
removed the diplomatic aspect of internment and meant that the 
problems that remained were relatively routine. Even when issues did 
arise, as with the internment of the German sailors in January 1944, 
Hempel was unable to influence government policy and, with the war 
clearly going against them, Germany had little or no ability to pressurise 
Dublin. Once the decision to release the Allies was confirmed, a new 
camp was constructed at Gormanstown, named No.4 internment camp, 
which was opened towards the end of October 1943. The 11 men who 
were housed there had parole every day until 8 AM, whereupon they 
generally returned to sign in before leaving the camp again. Several of 
them joined local sports clubs and played football with the Irish army.91

Around the same time, a total of 18 German internees were eventu-
ally granted permission to live in Dublin, where they began courses in 
University College Dublin and the College of Technology. They were 
given strict instructions to live in groups, be indoors by midnight, avoid 
all transport hubs and military barracks. They were also to keep away 
from places such as the Gresham Hotel, the Dolphin Hotel and the 
Hibernian Buttery, in order to avoid ‘disputes or troublesome incidents;’ 
although it was not stated in the documents, this was undoubtedly to 
avoid Allied troops, as all three establishments were popular with serv-
ice personnel on leave in the capital. Most importantly of all, they were 
not to make contact with any political groups or associations.92 This also 
applied to the internees still in the camp. There appears to have been 
no interaction between the German internees and the pro-Axis scene 
in Ireland during the war. The only recorded incident was when one of 
the naval internees was invited to lunch by Dan Breen, a veteran of the 
1919–21 revolution against British rule and Fianna Fáil TD for Tipperary. 
Permission for the visit was swiftly denied. Although the stated reason 
was that the internee was neither an officer nor an NCO, and therefore 
not allowed parole in Dublin,93 the real motive was probably to avoid 
the embarrassment of having a German serviceman taken to lunch by a 
member of de Valera’s own parliamentary party. Always an opinionated 
and tactless individual, Breen made no secret of his anti-British views, 
and was known to be pro-Axis during the war.94 Breen was also observed 
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by the Gardaí making frequent visits to German officials in Dublin 
during the war,95 so it is little wonder that the authorities found a reason 
to stop German internees visiting him. In a famous example of how 
much liberty the internees actually had, in 1945 two sailors apologised 
for breaking parole as they had been sailing in Dublin bay;96 on 2 January 
the senior internee himself had to write a contrite note of apology as he 
had slept in ‘after a very hard celebration’ and missed the bus back to the 
Curragh.97

For the Germans remaining in K-Lines, life became far more compli-
cated by the arrival of the 164 German sailors rescued in January 1944. 
As there was not enough room at K-Lines to accommodate the new 
internees, the decision was made to open a new camp adjacent to the 
IRA compound at the Curragh, which was designated internment camp  
No. 1B98 but is also sometimes called No.2A.99 (Other letters simply refer 
to it as camp No.1). This opened on 25 January 1944, first for the sailors 
only, before the Luftwaffe internees were transferred from K-Lines in 
March. A combination of the cramped conditions, a precarious supply 
situation and Germany’s increasingly hopeless position meant that morale 
in the new camp slumped badly. Instead of bungalows, as in K-Lines, 
the new camp contained eight huts that were divided into cubicles for 
the men as well as recreation spaces, an office and washrooms. McNally 
acknowledged that space was at a premium and warned shortly after the 
men were moved that there was only space for four more internees.100 To 
both McNally’s and Boland’s great relief, Mollenhauer had to relinquish 
the role of senior internee to Kaptaenleutnant Joachim Quedenfeld, the 
highest-ranking naval internee. However, he was less than impressed 
when he inspected the new camp and he complained in February 1944 
that it was too damp and too many men were held there, even before the 
arrival of the Luftwaffe personnel. McNally attributed his attitude to the 
negative influence of both Hempel and Mollenhauer.101

Fuel shortages in Ireland further added to the problems in the camp. 
At a conference in January 1944, it was decided that no more coal could 
be provided to the internees and instead only wood or turf would be 
supplied.102 By 1944 the shortage of coal in Ireland was acute, partly due to 
restricted supply from the Allied countries. The Defence Forces, who had 
been supplying the internees with fuel, had seen its coal reserve cut in half 
to a mere 6748 tons, all of which was distributed to the various commands 
by March 1944.103 In September 1944 the camp was provided with a ration 
of timber when none was available for the Defence Forces to use.104 Parole 
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was a further concern. Now that the number of Germans had risen so 
sharply, Boland was unsure whether the same parole conditions could be 
offered to the naval internees as enjoyed by the pilots. Luftwaffe officers 
could remain outside the camp until 8 AM, and NCOs had to return by 
5 PM.105 Of particular concern to the government was the grant of parole 
to the sailors to visit Dublin. The British government was hardly likely 
to approve of such large groups of German officers and NCOs roaming 
around Dublin freely. There was also the issue of the Luftwaffe men who 
had been granted permission to live in Dublin to study at UCD, and 
Boland suggested that de Valera be consulted before the same privilege 
was extended to the sailors. News of German defeats, as well as the 
attempt on Hitler’s life on 20 July 1944, depressed the mood in the camp 
further and the absence of the Allied internees was a constant reminder 
that the war was going badly for Germany. The list of incidents began to 
grow: several of the internees appeared in the District Court charged with 
stealing timber and a local woman alleged that an internee had attempted 
to enter her house late at night.106 On New Year’s Day 1945 some internees 
threw stones and broke windows in the camp after listening to an address 
by Hitler.107 Hitler’s speech had urged his followers to resist until the 
bitter end, before blaming his European allies, amongst other groups, for 
Germany’s precarious military position.108 There was, as Ian Kershaw has 
pointed out, nothing new in this sort of rhetoric, but it was enough, when 
combined with the frustrations of being interned, to spark a reaction from 
the sailors. In May 1945, following the German surrender, the PAs had to 
intervene to prevent the internees from attacking one of their own men.109 
At the same time, the German officers requested that they be transferred 
away from the camp, as they felt a ‘Communist element’ had taken over 
and they feared for their own safety and as a result, PAs were deployed 
to patrol within the camp itself.110 This trouble died away within a few 
days following a threat by the camp commandant that all parole would 
be cancelled, but it was symptomatic of the ugly mood within the intern-
ment camp as the war drew to an end. The naval ratings were not the last 
Germans to arrive. In March 1945, the 48-strong crew of U-260 landed in 
Cork after their submarine struck a mine off the Fastnet Rock and were 
interned, adding to the crowded atmosphere. G2 recovered a large cache 
of documents and Enigma codebooks, which were shared with MI5.111 On 
5 May, the last German aircrew of the war landed in Ireland when a JU-88 
alighted at Gormanstown aerodrome and the crew of five surrendered to 
the Irish authorities.112
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Germany’s slow collapse had a direct financial impact on the lives of 
the men still interned. Already in 1941, Berlin suggested that the internees 
wear their uniforms while on local parole, in order to cut down on cloth-
ing costs. Boland noted that neither the men themselves nor Hempel 
seemed particularly keen on this idea.113 In April 1943, the Department 
of Defence noted that the internees were struggling financially and were 
attempting to make toys to sell to the locals.114 The German Legation 
in Dublin began to run out of funds in January 1944, meaning that it 
had difficulty in providing funding for the internees and Dublin had 
to step into the gap. Hempel asked External Affairs to provide the 
men with some money, and Boland reported that they had been given 
sums ranging from £2 for officers to 15 shillings for NCOs and men. 
In return, Boland suggested that Berlin forward credits in Swiss francs 
through Geneva. External Affairs also undertook to provide them with 
civilian clothes, although there was some consternation when McNally 
reported that the Luftwaffe internees had close to £1100 spare cash from 
selling handmade toys at Christmas and a refund from the Revenue 
Commissioners.115 Furthermore, it was later discovered that the internees 
were selling their clothes to locals,116 as well as selling alcohol, which they 
could purchase duty-free.117 Berlin issued the internees with a final lump 
sum of two months pay in March 1945 and, although External Affairs 
knew that there would be no more forthcoming from Germany, Dublin 
refused to assume responsibility for the men’s wages.118 The government 
did undertake to pay for English classes for the internees, as Boland had 
discovered that other neutral countries had subsidised the education of 
their military internees, and he also suggested allowing up to £20 for 
stationary. The Irish Red Cross was asked to provide beer and cigarettes 
to the men,119 and the Irish army had previously donated toiletries and 
collected small sums of money for the sailors.120

The lack of any income meant that many German internees began to 
look for employment outside the camp. The use of prisoners of war for 
labour was widespread during the First World War, due to the conscrip-
tion of workers121 and whereas the belligerent countries actively sought 
to utilise prisoner of war labour to plug manpower gaps, German intern-
ees seeking work in Ireland during the Second World War raised some 
thorny issues for the government. Britain became heavily dependant 
on prisoner labour, with 350,000 German prisoners working in the UK 
economy in 1946.122 That same appetite for workers drew in many jobless 
Irish and, although Eire suffered from high unemployment during the 
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war, it would undoubtedly have been much higher had emigration to 
the UK been blocked: between 1941 and 1945, 172,574 travel permits to 
the UK were issued by External Affairs, and the government took steps 
to ensure that it was only the unemployed who left.123 However, the de 
Valera government had no desire to use the belligerent internees for 
labour and there were misgivings about allowing the internees, many of 
whom were skilled workers, to find jobs while many thousands of Irish 
citizens remained unemployed and tens of thousands were emigrating 
annually. There was also resistance in the locality towards the men work-
ing. In 1943, Hempel agreed that if internees found jobs through local 
labour exchanges, they first had to provide a certificate confirming that 
no Irish person was available for the job.124 The Gardaí reported during 
April 1943 that the employment of internees was causing dissatisfaction 
amongst the ‘local labour organisations’ and advised that internees not 
be permitted to work outside camp.125 In January 1944 the Chief of Staff 
of the Defence Forces opposed the idea of internees working for the 
Army because of the ‘possibility of undesirable contacts being created’126 
and in the summer of 1944, the Department of Industry and Commerce 
refused to allow the internees take part in a job scheme to help with the 
harvest,127 although it was satisfied to allow the internees to work in other 
employments in the locality.128

One of the more complex problems posed by the fact that the 
Germans wanted to work was the interpretation of the 1929 Convention 
on Prisoners of War. In this, the detaining power was responsible for the 
working conditions of prisoners, even if they worked outside the camp, 
but External Affairs was wary of intervening with private employers 
who hired German personnel. At the same time, Rynne deduced that 
the Convention prevented Dublin from simply ignoring its responsibil-
ity for the men once they walked out the camp gate. The only alternative, 
in his view, was to make a separate arrangement with Berlin regarding 
the internees.129 As with other issues regarding the belligerent person-
nel, Dublin attempted to keep track of the policies of other neutrals. 
External Affairs preserved an article from the Daily Telegraph in March 
1944 regarding the employment of British personnel in Switzerland. The 
article reported that the Swiss government had attempted to provide 
work for those who wanted it, while still giving priority to Swiss labour, 
which was precisely the same as the Irish approach.130 Likewise, the 
Swedish regulations on internee employment were consulted. Sweden 
allowed internees to work outside of camp, but the authorities reserved 
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the right to charge the internee for food, accommodation and tools if 
necessary.131

The abrupt halt in their wages forced many of the internees to seek 
employment independently. Reporting on the matter in April 1945 Sean 
Collins-Powell, who had replaced McNally, wrote that

Since the stoppage of pay there is a general desire for work. As far as can be 
ascertained, however, the big majority are not desirous of manual work and 
prefer to participate in Handicrafts. On this point I wish to refer to the efforts 
made to obtain employment in various part of the COUNTRY. Another inves-
tigation revealed that some of the Internees were already engaged in casual 
or semi-permanent employment within the parole area. The full details of 
this are difficult to ascertain because neither the employer nor employee are 
willing to give information. (Irish Military Archives, CP 1737, Collins-Powell 
to Provost Marshall, 24 April 1945)

Collins-Powell preferred to keep the internees working as a group, as he 
felt they would be too difficult to track and control if they were to source 
employment individually.132 Hempel, on the other hand, counselled against 
this, warning that there may be friction over the division of any profits 
if they were forced to work together.133 G2, which kept a close watch on 
the men themselves and those they corresponded with,134 suspected that 
the internees were using parole to work causally in the area, which camp 
regulations forbade them to do without prior permission from the camp 
commandant. After an investigation, it was found that 52 internees were 
working within the local parole area.135 Collins-Powell recommended 
against allowing the Germans to find employment in case of ‘repercus-
sions from local labour’.136 His caution was stemmed from an incident in 
July 1944; local workers in Kileenthomas threatened to go on strike if the 
Turf Development Board did not discontinue the employment of German 
internees in the bog. Given the crippling shortage of fuel in the country, 
the managers felt they had no option but to send the Germans back to the 
camp to avoid a work stoppage.137 The issue became particularly acute in 
May 1945 after the surrender of Germany. There was no longer a German 
government to look after the internees and the Legation in Dublin was 
closed down. De Valera was ‘anxious that those of the internees who are 
in a position to work should be allowed to do so’, given that there was no 
other source of income available to them. Writing to the Department of 
Industry and Commerce in May 1945, Boland pointed out that some of 
the Germans were highly skilled naval mechanics who should be able to 
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find some employment.138 Eventually, the majority of the internees found 
employment in some capacity, either working within the camp, hired by 
private individuals around the Curragh, cutting turf or creating items 
such as toys and Christmas cards.

Conclusion

Because K-Lines has consistently been misidentified as a prisoner 
of war camp, its liberal environment has always been portrayed as a 
strange and bizarre phenomenon. It is true that the military internees 
enjoyed a relatively comfortable incarceration, with the bulk of their 
time spent outside the wire, but that was also true of internees in other 
European neutrals, particularly Switzerland. No meaningful comparison 
can be drawn with prisoner of war camps, as the two institutions were 
completely different from each other, with different rules and different 
motivations for holding those detained in them. Quite apart from that, 
the Irish government had solid, practical reasons for offering belligerent 
internees such liberal conditions, and absence of any serious incidents 
between the men demonstrates that it was the correct path to follow.

Firstly, it was in the interests of the Irish military guarding the camp 
and the Irish government to keep the internees happy, healthy and 
occupied. Morale was a constant concern for the officers in charge of 
the camp and they strove to keep the atmosphere as relaxed as possible. 
Boredom, isolation and frustration at being incarcerated were all part of 
the prisoner experience, particularly in the Curragh, which was a rural 
area and could be extremely cold, damp and windswept in the autumn 
and winter. The Irish military authorities tried their best to stifle any 
major issues by exercising common sense when dealing with parole and 
other freedoms offered to the internees. Moreover, if the internees could 
be kept relatively contented, this would lessen the chances of an incident, 
which would in turn reduce the need for any diplomatic interventions 
by any of the belligerent countries. K-Lines was transparent in a way in 
which prisoner of war camps simply were not: the men had direct and 
unsupervised access to their diplomatic representatives, who also visited 
the camp on a regular basis, their mail was not harshly censored and 
they could communicate much more readily with the outside world than 
prisoners of war could.
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These extremely liberal conditions were not the product of a uniquely 
Irish way of dealing with internment, but were a way to reduce the 
potential for disorder and dissatisfaction within the belligerent camp. 
Confining the men to the Curragh as if they were actual prisoners of 
war was not only contrary to neutral practice, but it was also counter-
productive and likely to cause tension between the internees and 
guards. As Liam Archer of G2 pointed out in October 1940, the best 
way to deal with them was to try and make them as satisfied with their 
situation as possible. Furthermore, parole was a method of enforcing 
control and discipline. As it was a privilege that was granted at the 
discretion of the camp commandant, it effectively gave the internees 
something to lose if they misbehaved. On several occasions during the 
war, parole was suspended, usually after escape attempts, or when there 
had been a disturbance between the internees. In each of these cases, 
the trouble subsided when parole privileges were removed and the men 
were faced with the prospect of being held behind the wire with no 
hope of relieving the monotony of confinement. Thus when past writers 
and historians have marvelled at the novelty of the parole system, or 
mocked the de Valera government for allowing it, they have missed the 
point entirely.

At the same time, Dublin became involved in the day-to-day lives of 
prisoners of war as a result of the sending of parcels and packages from 
Ireland. The very long delay in establishing a free parcel service illustrates 
that the government was unprepared to deal with the more mundane 
problems of the war. The criticisms that Rynne and Boland levelled at the 
Irish Red Cross could also be applied to the government itself. It should 
have been obvious that being so close to the war zone, and with the tens 
of thousands of Eire citizens in the British armed forces, there would be 
a demand for a parcel service, and the lack of one caused unnecessary 
distress for those who had family members or friends in camps. Boland 
finally realised that this was not a tenable position: as he wrote in 1943, it 
was patently ridiculous that an Irish citizen could not obtain the neces-
sary information at their local post office. He told Rynne that he knew of

a recent case in which, when an Irish citizen who wanted to send something to 
an Italian internee on the Isle of Man consulted a Post Office, the Post Office 
assistant looked scandalised as if she had become aware of a plot against the 
safety of the State, and advised the enquirer to consult this Department to 
find out “whether it would be allowed”!139
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His own department, along with several others, were just as negligent as 
the post office official whom he ridiculed.
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4
Breaking Out and 
Breaking In: Escape

Abstract: Fears of international repercussions meant that 
the Irish government took great care to ensure that no 
military internees died while in its military custody, and that 
punishments for escape attempts were extremely lenient, 
particularly in contrast to Switzerland. At the same time, 
the issue of German prisoners of war escaping from camps in 
Northern Ireland into neutral Eire was deemed to be of such 
high importance that the government decided to abandon 
international law entirely, and secretly intercept and expel 
escapers under Irish legislation designed to restrict the entry 
of illegal aliens. This represented a fundamental breach of 
neutrality and, as this chapter shows, highlights again that the 
de Valera government always chose to preserve relations with 
the Allies rather than strictly enforce international guidelines 
on neutrality.

Keywords: aliens; expulsion; firearms; Northern Ireland; 
Royal Ulster Constabulary

Kelly, Bernard. Military Internees, Prisoners of War  
and the Irish State during the Second World War. 
Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 2015.  
doi: 10.1057/9781137446039.0007.



 Military Internees, Prisoners of War and the Irish State

DOI: 10.1057/9781137446039.0007

Escape of belligerent internees and prisoners of war was a major preoc-
cupation for the de Valera government during the Emergency. While the 
military internees were held in Ireland, 11 Allied and one German success-
fully broke out of the Curragh; two of these men were polite enough to 
write letters of thanks and apologies to the Irish army authorities. In 
his letter, Pilot Officer Cowper described his regret for ‘all the trouble I 
may have caused by my escape’.1 The single German was recaptured and 
handed to the British authorities. Escape attempts from K-Lines empha-
sised the differences between belligerent internees and prisoners of war. 
Although the PA were armed, carried live ammunition and were author-
ised to use it, they were discouraged from firing on escaping internees. 
This was partly because there was no legal precedent that gave Ireland 
the authority to fire on internees, but also because Dublin was eager to 
avoid the severe ramifications of the death of an internee at the hands 
of the Irish army. In addition, the determination of some internees to 
break out also highlighted the frustration of the Department of Defence 
with how the camp was run, and McNally in particular reported that 
the need to maintain a good relationship with the internees hampered 
precautions against escape. This same consideration did not exist in the 
IRA camp, where PAs were also authorised to use firearms against the 
inmates, resulting in the death of one inmate in December 1940.

However, another pressing issue confronting the government was pris-
oners of war attempting to get into Eire. In late 1944, over 10,000 German 
prisoners of war were transferred to Northern Ireland, to relieve severe 
overcrowding in camps in Britain. Under international law, prisoners 
of war who reached neutral territory could, technically, be immune 
from detention, as arresting and detaining them could be interpreted 
as continuing their initial captivity. The spectre of German prisoners 
of war breaking out of Northern Ireland and seeking refuge in Eire was 
not one welcomed by the de Valera government. The large numbers of 
Germans already interned, who were dependant on Irish funds as the 
German Legation was in deep financial difficulty, already stretched Irish 
resources to the limit. Quite apart from that, the diplomatic impact 
would have been catastrophic. There was simply no way that the British 
or US governments would acquiesce to German prisoners of war being 
left at large in Eire, given that the continuing presence of official Axis 
Legations in Dublin had already been a point of contention. In addition, 
in September 1944 de Valera refused an Allied demand that Ireland 
deny Axis war criminals entry to the country. In order to pre-empt the 
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problem, the government exploited the lack of precise international 
regulation governing escaping prisoners of war and decided to establish 
a cordon around the border with Northern Ireland to intercept any 
would-be German escapers before they reached the Irish interior. Any 
that managed to slip through would be arrested and expelled under 
Irish law, regardless of their legal status vis-à-vis the Hague and Geneva 
conventions or practices followed in other neutral countries.

The question of escape was on the government’s agenda as soon as the 
first belligerent personnel were interned in the Curragh. As previously 
mentioned, Colonel Thomas McNally was extremely wary of the first 
German internees, viewing them as men who were determined to flee 
at the first opportunity. The tight security, which characterised life in 
K-Lines during the first few weeks, was, in his view, fully justified by 
the risk that the internees would seek to break out. He reported that 
Mollenhauer had told him openly of his intention to escape and asked 
the Adjutant-General to confirm ‘the amount of force which I may 
employ to prevent such escape’.2 The situation became more complex 
after the first British pilot, Mayhew, was interned in September 1940. 
Despite McNally’s suspicions regarding the Germans, it was the Allied 
internees who were far more likely to attempt to escape. The border 
with Northern Ireland was less than 100 miles away from the Curragh, 
and the area surrounding the camp contained many people who were 
sympathetic to the Allied cause. The quandary faced by the government, 
and by the Irish military, was how to effectively guard the internees while 
also ensuring that the amount of force used did not provoke a complaint 
from the belligerent states. One measure that was taken swiftly was 
that the use of weapons was restricted. Draft instructions drawn up for 
McNally in December 1940 make it clear that while an escort was to stay 
with the internees when they were on parole, deadly force was strongly 
discouraged:

If the circumstances should arise in which it became necessary to choose 
between the use of firearms and allowing an internee on parole to escape, the 
latter course should be followed.3

It is clear that this decision came directly from de Valera himself, and 
caused some difficulty in the early days of Mayhew’s internment. As 
he was initially refused permission by London to sign out on parole, 
McNally was willing to allow him to leave his compound if followed by 
an armed escort. However, the instruction to allow Mayhew to escape 
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rather than firing at him meant that the provision of the armed escort 
was pointless. The decision not to use weapons differed from the Swedish 
practice: internees being transferred from one camp to another by the 
Swedish authorities were warned that ‘if they attempt to escape they may 
be shot’.4

Although discouraged to use their rifles, the PAs at K-Lines were not 
expressly forbidden to do so: the official duties laid down for the camp 
sentries stated, somewhat vaguely, that they could ‘use such force as may 
be necessary to prevent the escape or rescue of Internees’.5 Instructions 
to the camp Guard were clearer, stating that they were permitted to open 
fire to ‘prevent the rescue or the attempted rescue of the Internees’, or 
to prevent the destruction of property. In these limited circumstances, 
guards could fire without warning. What was missing from the instruc-
tions, however, was the authorisation to fire on internees effecting their 
own escape, as distinct from being rescued from outside the camp.6 The 
instructions handed to sentinels at No.4 camp at Gormanstown were 
much clearer: sentinels were to fire into the air only to raise the alarm in 
the case of an escape.7 This differed from the standing orders at the IRA 
camp, which declared that military police could, without prior warning, 
fire live ammunition to prevent either escape or rescue.8 Furthermore, 
Emergency Powers Order no.28 stated quite clearly that the Defence 
Forces could ‘use such force (including the use of firearms) as may be 
reasonably necessary to prevent the escape or rescue’ of republican 
internees or convicted prisoners.9

On 20 January 1941, the British internees disabled the electrical systems 
at K-Lines, scaled the wire and several escaped into the night, although 
all were quickly recaptured. Reporting to the Quartermaster General, 
McNally asked for more lights surrounding the camp, and sarcastically 
highlighted the particular difficulties he faced:

I am perfectly satisfied that the British and German Internees are aware of the 
fact that we cannot fire on them and that their attempts to escape, therefore, 
can be made without fear of being killed or maimed. In this connection I 
might mention that I have personally observed a Curragh sheep making its 
way through the barbed wire defences in No.1 Internment camp. It took it 
exactly one minute to do so.10

McNally raised further concerns about the ambiguous position of the 
camp guards following a large break out on the night of 25 June 1941. Nine 
Allied internees overpowered the PAs on duty, six of which eventually 
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made it to Northern Ireland,11 and McNally requested that extra guards 
be drafted into the camp. He was particularly anxious about the options 
open to the PAs when breakouts occurred:

A point which is causing me great concern is the overpowering of the Military 
Police personnel. As you are aware only the barest minimum is on duty at 
any one time and their duties are mainly of an observational nature. They 
could not hope to resist a massed attack from the Internees who considerably 
outnumber them. In this connection sentries are practically useless except to 
give an alarm as they cannot fire on the Internees, and I know the Internees 
took this into consideration when planning their escape.12

Despite the prohibition, two guards fired a total of five shots at or over 
the internees during the escape.13 It should be noted that not all the PAs 
at K-Lines were armed. Only sentries who manned the observation posts 
actually carried their rifles and they were supposed to keep watch on 
the wire perimeter, rather than the internees themselves.14 Members of 
the camp Guard, fifteen men and an NCO, left their rifles in the Guard 
Room.15 The remaining PAs and soldiers carried batons and some officers 
carried revolvers. An official military inquiry into the June 1941 escape 
showed the growing contradiction between the duty of Defence to ensure 
the internees did not escape and the stated desire of External Affairs that 
this be achieved with minimum force, while allowing the internees the 
maximum amount of freedom. Extra barriers were not erected around 
K-Lines because of ‘the continuous objection of the Internees to be made 
even appear as prisoners’. This, combined with the ‘question of preserving 
harmonious relations and the fostering of goodwill’ meant that the camp’s 
perimeter was not reinforced. This placed McNally in a very difficult 
position, as the enquiry confirmed when it absolved him of blame for the 
escape. The main problem identified by the enquiry was that

While the utmost courtesy and civility must be extended to the Internees, yet 
they must be prevented from escaping. The working out in practice of these 
two rather opposed points of view is likely to lead to other incidents similar 
to the one the Court just investigated.16

The successful escape led directly to a letter of protest from Hempel, 
who claimed in July that Ireland was in breach of international law by 
not guarding the internees closely enough.17 As a possible defence to this, 
Rynne suggested that Hempel be informed of the practical difficulties of 
holding the British internees: they could blend in with the local popula-
tion because they spoke English, British forces were close by in Ulster and 
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because they were not actually ‘prisoners of war, we are unwilling to fire 
upon [them] (a reluctance which benefits the German internees also)’.18

In January 1942, a British internee attempted to escape by scaling the 
wire while his comrade distracted the guards; when confronted by PAs 
with rifles, his fellow internee shouted that they were under orders not 
to fire and urged him to run. This development particularly troubled 
McNally, who felt that the camp guards were now in an ‘impossible posi-
tion’ because the internees had ‘definitely and for all time established that 
our police and sentries cannot shoot them when attempting to escape’. 
His frustration seeped through his letter to the Adjutant-General, 
which he concluded by suggesting that ‘It might be a convenient time 
to consider whether or not a military camp of this nature is the most 
suitable place for the internment of belligerents’.19 It is difficult not to 
have some sympathy for McNally at this point. Under constant pressure 
from External Affairs to adopt as liberal an attitude as possible towards 
internees, he was still expected to prevent them from escaping but was 
unable to offer strong resistance when they inevitably tried. Shortly 
afterwards, Peadar MacMahon, secretary of the Department of Defence, 
questioned the prohibition on the use of firearms in a letter to External 
Affairs. He pointed out that international law seemed to allow force to be 
used on internees and then asked if Ireland was not actually breaching 
international law by not using all means to prevent internees escaping,20 
echoing Hempel’s remarks of July 1941.

The situation came to a head on the night of 7 February 1942 when the 
entire Allied camp attempted to break out. The getaway was thwarted 
by PAs, who made liberal use of their batons, and also fired shots over 
the heads of the escapers. In the days afterwards both Maffey and de 
Valera became involved, and Maffey suggested that the guards should 
not have firearms at all, as ‘the temptation to fire on the internees if they 
tried to escape might be too strong’.21 In this, Maffey had a point: despite 
the repeated reminders, shots were fired during all the major escape 
attempts at K-Lines. When he examined the issue, Rynne could find no 
basis upon which Ireland could justify the use of firearms on escaping 
internees, despite External Affairs having evidence that Swedish regula-
tions warned internees of the danger of being shot while escaping. He 
argued that Ireland’s main role model, Switzerland, did not sanction 
a policy of firing on internees. If it happened in Ireland, he wrote, ‘it 
would be almost impossible for us to justify the killing of an internee in 
the Curragh’.22 Boland foresaw the diplomatic consequences, telling the 
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Department of Defence that ‘a very difficult situation would be created 
if a British internee was shot trying to escape, particularly if he were 
killed’.23

No Axis or Allied personnel died while in the custody of the Irish 
military, during escapes or otherwise, and figures have not yet been 
discovered which would allow a comparison with other European 
neutrals. The government did its very best to ensure that military intern-
ees received the best standard of medical attention and they had access 
to the Curragh military facilities. If they could not be treated in Kildare, 
they were given travel vouchers to travel to Dublin and, if needed, an 
interpreter was sent with them.24 In addition, arrangements were made 
to have emergency supplies of blood available for transfusion in the 
event that belligerent pilots were injured in crashes on Irish territory.25 
While none died in captivity, many belligerent personnel died on Irish 
territory, usually when their aircraft crashed. One hundred and fifty nine 
British, 11 American and 24 Germans died after crashing on Irish terri-
tory, with a further 12 British pilots listed as missing.26 In addition, four 
German sailors died after being rescued by the Kerlogue.

The aftermath of the attempted February 1942 escape illustrated an 
interesting difference between the Irish and Swiss approaches to their 
respective military internees and, despite the fact the External Affairs 
constantly looked to Switzerland as a model, this was one instance in 
which their policies diverged completely. As previously noted, the Swiss 
government declined in 1940 to extend the provisions of the 1929 Geneva 
Convention to belligerent internees, while the Irish government was 
happy to do so. The Convention stipulated that if prisoners were to be 
punished for escape attempts, then any punishment should not exceed 
30 days and that they must not be transferred to another institution to 
serve it. Escapes in K-Lines usually only resulted in partial or temporary 
loss of parole or, if outside assistance was suspected, a brief stoppage 
and more intensive search of incoming mail. As Ireland adhered to the 
Convention, none of these punishments contradicted the international 
standard. Following the June 1941 breakout, de Valera made a point 
of reminding Defence that no punishments were to surpass the thirty 
day limit set out in 1929 and he hoped that the internees would not be 
penalised at all.27 The Swiss, on the other hand, handed down prison 
sentences of between three and six months to escapers and sometimes 
transferred them to the disciplinary camp at Wauwilermoos, where 
American internees reported filthy conditions, overcrowding, strict 
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security, poor food28 and where prisoners were not allowed to receive 
Red Cross parcels.29 Swiss prosecutors defended this practice by claim-
ing that punishment of 30 days was not sufficient to stop escape attempts 
and that if Switzerland could not effectively detain internees, it might 
damage their neutrality.30

By way of contrast, when it was suggested that some of the British 
internees might be charged with assault for their part in the scuffles on 
the night of 7 February, Michael Rynne noted that as Ireland had decided 
to adopt the 1929 rules as the basis of its internment policy, the internees 
in question could not be brought before a military or a civilian court 
for their actions during an escape attempt. Instead, they could be dealt 
with by disciplinary action within the camp,31 and as a result their parole 
privileges were temporarily curtailed. The Swiss refusal to implement the 
Convention meant that escapers were sentenced under Swiss law, mean-
ing that belligerent internees were often given harsher treatment than 
prisoners of war in belligerent countries who were caught escaping.

The question of what actually constituted an escape was brought 
into question during the June 1941 breakout, when two British intern-
ees returning from parole distracted the guards at the gate while their 
comrades rushed out of the camp. A subsequent military enquiry ruled 
that both internees had broken their parole by assisting an escape32 and 
External Affairs suggested that they would be willing to ask the British 
authorities to return the men,33 although they eventually decided against 
it. However, when Roland Wolfe, who had been interned at the end 
of November 1941, played a simple but clever sleight-of-hand with his 
parole privileges to escape the camp, the question was raised again. On 
13 December 1941, he signed out on parole for the night. However, he 
pretended to forget something and signed back into the camp to retrieve 
it, walking back to his room. After a few minutes, he returned to the gate, 
where the PA on duty then allowed him out without signing a new parole 
form. He then spent the night in Dublin before presenting himself at his 
base in Derry the next day. When the matter was investigated, the camp 
guards claimed that Wolfe had not returned to his room but had simply 
absconded, but one of Wolfe’s colleagues confirmed his story.34 Although 
he had technically not been on parole when he left the camp, his ruse 
threatened to undermine the liberal manner in which the camp was run. 
All internees signed undertakings not to escape, or make preparations to 
escape, while out on parole, but Wolfe’s use of it to flee was also consid-
ered to be out of order. If he had been allowed to go free, then the parole 
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system would undoubtedly have been tightened up considerably, as 
other internees would certainly have tried variations of Wolfe’s scheme. 
Parole was one of the mechanisms which maintained the camp’s relative 
harmony; closely confining the men could conceivably led to increased 
tensions and possible incidents. Maffey suggested that Wolfe be returned, 
to avoid the Irish authorities having to clamp down on the internees, 
which he was a few days later. It should be noted that David Gray, despite 
his well-known opposition to Irish neutrality, agreed with Maffey and 
supported the decision to return Wolfe to detention.35 Subsequently, all 
escape attempts were formulated from inside the wire. They included a 
foiled tunnel from K-Lines and another at Gormanstown,36 which was 
discovered personally by the camp commander, Captain T.J. Ringrose. 
The tunnel was closely monitored by the camp authorities, who even 
created a diagram of its probable route,37 and it was shut down shortly 
before the last Allied internees were released in June 1944.

The arrival of thousands of German prisoners of war in Northern 
Ireland in January 1945 surprised both the Belfast and Dublin govern-
ments. The Unionist administration was not consulted before the 
decision was made and was informed only in early December 1944 
that approximately 12,400 German prisoners were going to be sent,38 
and would be shipped between 8 and 20 January.39 Stormont Minister 
for Home Affairs Edmund Warnock wrote that the Prime Minister of 
Northern Ireland, Sir Basil Brooke, was opposed to the plan, but that his 
government would cooperate if requested.40 Belfast also warned about 
the danger of ‘escapes to Eire and the likelihood of these men finding 
some sympathy with certain elements in our midst,’41 in other words the 
IRA and the nationalist population. Likewise, when Maffey told Dublin 
of the decision on 6 January, Joseph Walshe protested strongly, telling 
Maffey that ‘if it was absolutely necessary to send prisoners to the Six 
Counties, his authorities should take the greatest care to prevent them 
from escaping into our area’.42 Despite the obvious reluctance of the 
Belfast administration as well as the objections from Dublin, the British 
government had little choice but to send prisoners to Northern Ireland. 
By 1943, with vast numbers of Italians in camps all over Britain and 
the Dominions, and an ever-growing number of Germans also being 
captured, the British government began to run out of space.43 Prisoner 
numbers also surged once the Allied forces landed at Normandy and 
began to advance through France. Prisoners and internees were shipped 
to Canada from 1940 onwards, and South Africa also hosted German 
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prisoners of war, despite the precarious political and security situation 
there.44 Northern Ireland was the last empty area available to the British 
and it had the added advantage that it was close by.

The Germans in Northern Ireland were held in six wired camps that 
had previously housed American troops and, unlike the rest of the UK, 
would not be available for employment.45 There was also to be a hospital 
for the prisoners at Orangefield, near Belfast, that would be staffed and 
run by German doctors and nurses overseen by British officials.46 Like 
K-Lines, the camp guards were armed and the government in London 
was not keen to see prisoners being killed. The Royal Ulster Constabulary 
(RUC) was advised that ‘armed guards have definite instructions to shoot 
to kill in the event of an attempted prisoner-of-war escape’. However, 
the Home Office in London pointed out that they would ‘prefer to be 
relieved of any possible embarrassment that might ensue from the ques-
tions which would almost inevitably arise if an armed member of the 
Royal Ulster Constabulary did in fact shoot and killed [sic] an escaping 
German prisoner-of-war’. The Home Office instead asked that the RUC 
use their discretion about the use of live ammunition, particularly if 
faced with armed prisoners.47 One German prisoner in Northern Ireland 
was killed during an escape attempt, shot by a sentry at Monrush camp 
in March 1945.48

Some sections of the Northern Irish press and public reacted badly to 
the news that German prisoners were soon to arrive. While the Belfast 
News Letter assured its readers that the Germans were not hardcore 
Nazis and that all roads to Eire were under heavy guard,49 the Daily Mail 
headline thundered dramatically that there was a ‘Spate of Nazis for 
N.Ireland’.50 A Derry business owner wrote to John Maynard Sinclair, the 
acting prime minister in Belfast, asking him not to send any prisoners to 
the province, warning that ‘it would be very easy for the Germans if they 
escaped to get over the border and they would be very well received by 
the Free Staters’.51 In the rest of the UK the fear of fifth columnists was 
synchronised with the course of the war, falling away after peaking in 
mid-1940, but in Northern Ireland the spectre of internal enemies never 
dissipated. The unionist government had deep misgivings about the 
loyalty of the Catholic/nationalist minority within the six counties and 
from Belfast’s perspective the coming of thousands of German prisoners, 
combined with the ever-present threat of the IRA, was not an appealing 
prospect. The cross-border reach of the IRA before stern action was 
taken against it by Dublin and Belfast was demonstrated by the fact that 
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some of the ammunition stolen by republicans from the Magazine Fort 
raid in Dublin during December 1939 was used in attacks in Northern 
Ireland.52

The influx of Germans could scarcely have come at a worse time 
for the Dublin government. Twice in 1944 there had been tense diplo-
matic stand-offs between Ireland and the Allies: in February 1944 the 
American Note threatened to plunge Irish-US relations into crisis, and 
in September the Allies requested an assurance the Ireland would not 
grant asylum to any Axis war criminals.

Both of these requests were viewed in Dublin as unacceptable attempts 
to limit Irish sovereignty and de Valera inevitably refused to grant either, 
leading to much negative publicity in Allied countries. Upon hearing of 
the impending arrival of German prisoners, Michael Rynne was tasked 
with investigating the legal aspects of the situation, and where Eire stood 
in relation to escaped prisoners of war. He discovered that, despite the 
firm guidelines set out in the 1907 Hague Convention, there was actually 
no consensus amongst legal scholars. The language of the convention 
seemed to offer little room for manoeuvre: ‘A neutral Power which 
receives escaped prisoners of war shall leave them at liberty. If it allows 
them to remain in its territory it may assign them a place of residence’.53 
Of particular interest was Britain’s official attitude to escaped prisoners 
of war. In 1907, as one of the main signatories, London proposed an 
amendment which stated that ‘Prisoners who, having escaped from the 
territory of a belligerent which held them (or from enemy territory occu-
pied by a belligerent) arrive in a neutral country shall be free’.54 However, 
in the intervening years, this opinion had been modified. For instance, 
the British manual of military law (which had been largely adopted by 
the Irish Defence Forces) stated that:

Prisoners of war who succeed in escaping into neutral territory regain their 
liberty, but they cannot claim to remain there. It rests with the neutral State 
whether it will grant or refuse them admission, and in the latter case whether 
or not it will allow them to remain on its territory. If they are permitted to 
remain the neutral State may compel them to make their residence in a speci-
fied locality.55

Maffey contradicted this when he met Walshe to discuss the matter in 
January 1945, he asked that the Dublin government hand any escapers 
back to the British authorities, which Walshe refused to guarantee.56 
European models were of little use to Ireland either. Switzerland arranged 
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to hand over escaping British prisoners of war who crossed its frontiers 
to the advancing Allied armies, while Swedish regulations simply stated 
that while escapers were not ‘internable’ they were to be turned over to 
the local authorities.57

Rynne’s recommendations eventually chose a middle way between the 
two extremes of interning escapers or leaving them at liberty. Noting 
that a neutral country could deny escaping prisoners entry if they 
wished, Rynne suggested the creation of a special ‘zone of control’ along 
the border with Northern Ireland, extending approximately 35 miles into 
Eire territory. German prisoners who were caught within this zone were 
considered to still be in the act of escaping and could therefore be turned 
back. De Valera himself approved this idea on 13 January 1945.58 The fate 
of those who managed to evade the Gardaí and pass through the zone 
remained unresolved. Although Walshe suggested to Maffey that they 
would be interned,59 and Colonel Dan Bryan of G2 thought that they 
should be ‘under some form of restraint,’60 it was far from clear where 
they would be accommodated. Bryan was of the opinion that they could 
only be held in the German internment camp in the Curragh, but was 
unaware if there was actually space there.61 The key to the Irish strategy 
was to prevent escapers getting into the interior of Eire but, as Rynne 
noted, the Gardaí would not be able to contain a mass breakout from 
Northern Ireland.62

Unlike the internment of the belligerent airmen and sailors, Dublin 
did not rely on emergency law to halt prisoners of war entering Eire. 
Instead, the instructions issued by the Gardaí on 18 January cited the 
Aliens Act of 1935.63 The act gave the Minister for Justice the power to 
prevent aliens from entering the country, as well as the power to compel 
them to stay in ‘particular places or districts’ in Ireland.64 Presumably, 
if any prisoners of war managed to slip through the control zone, the 
latter clause would have been used to detain and control them, but it 
did not specify that they had to be kept within one camp. Gardaí were 
to ascertain whether any Germans caught in this area had the correct 
documentation allowing them to cross the border and, if they did not, 
they were to be ‘escorted without delay to the Border and put across 
into Northern Ireland’. Escapers would not, of course, have the correct 
permits or a passport meaning that the government could expel them 
under Irish law.

Not using emergency legislation had two other advantages for the de 
Valera government. As Rynne admitted in January 1946, Dublin was 
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technically supposed to allow escaping prisoners of war attempt to rejoin 
their own forces,65 as Switzerland did. Any Emergency Powers Order 
which attempted to expel escapers from Eire would draw attention to 
the fact that the government had not even attempted to conform to the 
1907 Convention. It could also be questioned in the Dáil, as the order to 
dismiss deserters from the Irish Defence Forces was in October 1945. In 
addition, as has previously been illustrated, the government was closely 
questioned by independent TD Oliver Flanagan regarding releases of 
Allied aircrew, and there is little doubt that he would have seized upon 
this issue to further embarrass de Valera. By using the 1935 Aliens Act as 
the basis for its actions, the government simply bypassed its obligations 
as a neutral and, instead of regarding escaping Germans as prisoners of 
war, instead chose to classify them as foreign nationals attempting to 
make an illegal entry into Eire, almost as if the war was not in progress. 
The orders issued to the Gardaí make no mention of prisoners at all and 
instead consistently refer to them as aliens. The use of existing legisla-
tion, the convenient classification as aliens and the use of censorship to 
remove all mention of the escapers in the Irish media, meant that the 
government could quickly and quietly deal with any escaped prisoners 
of war and avoid any unpleasant explanations either to the Dáil or to the 
British government.

The first escapers crossed quickly into Irish territory. Within 48 
hours of the decision being made, two German prisoners appeared 
in Dundalk and handed themselves into the local Garda station. They 
were part of a group of four who had escaped from a camp in Gilford, 
county Down, two of whom had been intercepted by the British. As 
the two which had reached Eire had been apprehended within three 
miles of the border and were therefore still within the control zone, the 
Gardaí were given instructions that they should be sent straight back. 
Having been given a cup of tea and washing facilities, the two men 
were driven to the border and went ‘quite cheerfully’ when they were 
sent back into Northern Ireland.66 There is no hint in the documents 
that the RUC had warned the Gardaí about the escapers, and the local 
police in Dundalk were as surprised as anyone when the two Germans 
surrendered themselves.

Great secrecy was attached to the plan to prevent prisoners crossing 
into Eire. In a meeting with Norman Archer of the British Legation, 
Walshe stressed the need to stop the press publishing the news of 
escapes,67 and the official instructions issued to the police emphasised 
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that the order was ‘strictly confidential’.68 The Irish censor removed an 
article in the Irish Independent which stated that the two men had made it 
over the border,69 and the articles that were allowed to be published were 
very light on details. The Daily Express reported on the recapture of the 
two men, but made a point of saying that the ‘Ulster police are reticent 
about their capture’.70 On 11 July 1945 a further two Germans were discov-
ered in Louth. With the war over at that point and the censorship regime 
dismantled, the press were free to report on the matter. Newspaper 
accounts suggested that the men had fled from a camp in France, travel-
ling across Britain to reach Northern Ireland, where they then crossed 
into Eire. However, G2 suspected that they had actually broken out of an 
English camp and lied about it in an attempt to avoid being returned.71 
They finally admitted the truth, which was that they were both deserters 
from the German forces, one of whom had fled to Sweden and the other 
who had surrendered to the Americans in France.72 None of this helped 
their case and de Valera personally ordered that they be ‘sent across the 
border’ on 10 July.73

The manner in which prisoners were returned to Northern Ireland 
was very specific. Walshe informed Maffey that because of the implica-
tions for Irish neutrality, Dublin could not officially return the prisoners 
to the RUC.74 This was tantamount to continuing their captivity and 
aiding Britain to detain them, which would represent a very serious and 
very public breach of neutrality. Therefore, the Gardaí were specially 
instructed that they ‘will not be formally handed over to the R.U.C’.75 
Likewise, Dan Bryan of G2 suggested that they be simply ‘pushed back’.76 
Although considerations surrounding neutrality was given as the overt 
reason, there was another motive. Because Dublin had a continuing 
claim on the territory of Northern Ireland, the de Valera government 
was keen to avoid any public action which would seem to recognise or 
legitimise the northern Irish state. Therefore, despite the fact that there 
was a great deal of cross-border cooperation during the war, the Gardaí 
could not be seen to be publicly collaborating with the RUC, as it could 
have serious political repercussions. As one senior Garda reported, it was 
assumed by the population in Louth that the police were officially assist-
ing the RUC in capturing escaped prisoners of war, and the Dundalk 
branch of the Fianna Fáil party – de Valera’s own – raised the issue at 
one of its meetings.77 The need for secrecy was paramount if the govern-
ment was to avoid embarrassment and the façade of neutrality was to be 
maintained.
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The mass escapes envisaged by the press and feared by the Dublin 
government never materialised. Despite the Sunday Pictorial warning 
that the IRA was plotting to spring 2,000 Germans from captivity,78 only  
20 Germans escaped from camps in Northern Ireland. Some authors 
have presented anecdotal evidence of Germans successfully getting 
across the border,79 but the documentary evidence shows that only three 
made it to Eire before the end of the war in Europe, with several more 
arriving afterwards. For those who arrived during the conflict, all were 
detained by the police for a short period and then ferried back to the 
border. The lack of escapes was partly due to the fact that the Germans 
in Northern Ireland were guarded very tightly, and that their stay was 
extremely brief: most remained there only until August 1945, when 8,000 
of them were shipped back to Britain.80 By December only 997 were left 
in Ulster.81 By this stage the IRA was in no condition, north or south, 
to attack the camps, regardless of the doom-laden predictions in some 
newspapers. Internment on both sides of the border had greatly weak-
ened the organisation, which by 1945 was far more focussed on survival 
than taking the offensive against either Irish state.

While Dublin had to deal with Germans in Northern Ireland for only 
a short period, more German prisoners of war arrived from an unex-
pected direction well after the end of the conflict. On 19 January 1946, 
a small coastal patrol boat containing fifteen German sailors arrived 
in Kinsale harbour, having escaped from the French naval base at  
St. Nazaire. They sought out the local Garda station and made contact 
with a local solicitor, who wrote to External Affairs on their behalf. 
The Germans requested that they be repatriated to their homes in the 
British and American occupation zones of Germany; failing that, they 
wished to be given asylum in Ireland or to travel onwards the Britain, 
but they refused to be sent back to France.82 While in Kinsale, they were 
provided with food at the State’s expense, but were also given packages 
by the local branch of the Red Cross. Their presence generated a number 
of reactions amongst the population of the coastal town. Many were 
simply curious, while others were sympathetic enough to send them 
gifts of food. Relatives of those who had died in the war were under-
standably hostile to the Germans.83 Cork, and other areas of Munster, 
had long traditions of providing recruits for the Royal Navy. However, 
the sister of a prisoner of war who had been held by the Germans, 
and well treated by them, invited the sailors to tea at her house.84 The 
Department of External Affairs was careful to record and preserve the 
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extensive press coverage given to the Germans arrival and the attitude 
of the local population. Unsurprisingly taken completely unawares by 
their landing, the government, as always, looked to Rynne to establish 
their legal position.

Rynne noted immediately that as Germany had surrendered and 
hostilities had ended, Ireland’s neutrality was not a factor. Instead, the 
Germans could be considered ‘ordinary aliens’ who had landed without 
a permit and were therefore liable to expulsion, the same category that 
had been applied to escaping prisoners of war. However, even in peace-
time international relations had to be taken into account. As they had 
escaped from French custody, Rynne worried that ‘A serious diplomatic 
incident might be created with France, or the Allies generally’ if the men 
were permitted to remain in Ireland. Even more worryingly, if they were 
allowed to stay, this would set a precedent and Dublin then ran the risk 
of becoming ‘a refuge for all the displaced persons of Europe with the 
means of landing unexpectedly here’. His recommendation was the same 
as the issue of prisoners from Northern Ireland: to use the Aliens Act to 
expel them and, in this case, to arrange with the French authorities to 
take them back into custody.85

After consultations with the French Legation in Dublin, the govern-
ment followed Rynne’s suggestion to the letter, and a French corvette 
was sent to Cobh on 7 February to take the sailors back into custody, 
and to take possession of the stolen boat. They were transported with a 
heavy police presence to Cobh and there handed over to the French. The 
incident sparked a protest from Fine Gael TD Eamon O’Neill, whose 
wife had been one of the Red Cross officials providing assistance to the 
sailors. Writing to Walshe in March 1946, he said that he felt ‘very sore 
about the way the Germans had been treated’, particularly the manner 
of the handover to the French. The Germans had not been informed of 
their destination until the last minute, and were ‘packed in a bus with 
fifteen beefy Guards (the biggest in Cork) who did not treat them too 
kindly and shoved them roughly down the wharf at Cobh into the French 
corvette’.86 Replying a few weeks later, Walshe informed O’Neill that the 
Germans had been expelled purely on the grounds of controlling illegal 
immigration. If they had not been, Walshe argued, then Ireland would 
become ‘a happy hunting-ground for every kind of “displaced person” 
who manages to get here from Europe’.87 In the Dáil, O’Neill asked de 
Valera which countries Ireland had extradition treaties with, to which de 
Valera said that Ireland had none.88
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The government set aside extra ammunition to refute O’Neill’s argu-
ments in the form of a British decision in 1946 to expel four Polish 
men who had stowed away on a ship to Scotland and sought asylum. 
In defending the decision to eject the Poles, the British Home Secretary 
James Chuter Ede said that ‘it is essential that no encouragement should 
be given to the idea that persons who come to this country illegally will 
receive preferential treatment’.89 At the time, the British government was 
attempting to resettle thousands of Polish veterans of the war in the UK, 
and was coming under pressure from trade unions not to admit any 
more.90 An External Affairs note for de Valera pointed out that Ede’s 
‘statement covers our position as regards the fifteen Germans at Kinsale 
very accurately and, therefore, the second sentence of Mr Ede’s reply 
might be useful in the event of Deputy O’Neill asking supplementaries’.91

Much like the policy towards German escapers from Northern Ireland, 
there was a large amount of deception surrounding the removal of the 
German sailors. As Rynne observed, O’Neill’s question could not have 
come at a worse time. At that time, there was no basis in Irish law to 
extradite a foreign national upon request from abroad. The Extradition 
Act of 1870 could be used in an emergency, but as it was a pre-independ-
ence law which referred to the Irish as ‘British subjects’, the de Valera 
government preferred not to use it. ‘If it were possible to avoid disclos-
ing the details of this situation to the Dáil, so much the better’ wrote 
Rynne. ‘Such a disclosure might have a bad effect abroad, as well as on 
the deputies.’ According to Rynne’s advice, the sailors were not techni-
cally extradited, as O’Neill had implied; they had been expelled under 
the Aliens Act and, as they were members of the German forces which 
had surrendered to the Allies, Ireland had to recognise that the French 
government ‘had a claim to the custody of these men’.92 In addition, once 
the arrangements with the French government had been concluded, 
Frederick Boland telephoned the Department of Justice, warning them 
about arresting the sailors too early in advance of the French arrival, as 
that would give their lawyers time to file habeas corpus applications. He 
was told that the Gardaí had decided to ‘postpone the arrest until the last 
moment’.93

Rynne acknowledged in 1948 that any legal action taken by escaped 
prisoners of war against their expulsion by Dublin would be difficult to 
defend against. Putting together a hypothetical court case brought by an 
escaped prisoner of war against the Irish state, he argued that even if the 
Court found against the applicant,
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despite this Department’s assurances that Ireland has overtly assumed all the 
obligations of the Hague Conventions, and, in particular, those deriving from 
Convention No. V of 1907 concerning the rights and duties of neutral powers 
in case of war on land, it is scarcely conceivable that it could, on the basis 
of this Department’s replies, permit deportation to any place at which the 
alien might again be taken into British custody. (National Archives of Ireland, 
DFA 369/8, ‘Escaped Prisoners of War – Immunity from Deportation Back to 
Capture’, memo by Rynne, 20 July 1948)

In other words, even if the court turned down the prisoner’s plea against 
his expulsion, because External Affairs would have to admit that it had 
applied the 1907 and 1929 Conventions to belligerent service personnel in 
Ireland, the escaper could not be sent back to his original captor, which 
is precisely what de Valera ordered when German prisoners of war were 
transported back over the border into Northern Ireland.

Conclusion

The question of escape – both out of and into Eire – was one of the strang-
est and most difficult conundrums faced by the de Valera government 
during the war, and Dublin’s attempt to tackle it further highlighted the 
contradictions inherent in its attitude towards belligerent internment. 
The men in the Curragh, officially classified as military internees from 
1942 onwards, came under the protection of the 1929 Convention, mean-
ing that their escape attempts were punished at the minimum standard 
handed out to prisoners of war. In practice, the Irish military usually 
suspended parole for a short period and their escape attempts were never 
met with deadly force. Germans attempting to reach Eire from camps 
in Northern Ireland were unilaterally categorised by the government 
as aliens, despite genuinely being prisoners of war, in order to prevent 
the 1907 convention being applied to them, meaning that Dublin could 
avoid having to allow them enter the country and taking responsibility 
for them once they arrived. This broke with other neutral practices in 
Europe. Switzerland assisted escaping prisoners of war to reach their own 
forces; although Spain arrested members of the belligerent forces who 
crossed its borders, Madrid held them only to ascertain their identities 
and then released them to the relevant diplomatic representatives.

In dealing with both military internees in Ireland and escaping 
German prisoners of war, the government prioritised its relationship 
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with the Allies over its responsibilities as a neutral. The decision to 
avoid injuring or killing internees by not firing during escapes and the 
extremely lenient penalties for attempted breakout – in direct contrast to 
Switzerland – were motivated by a desire to steer clear of any complica-
tions with the Allied governments. As has already been proved, consular 
officials regularly visited K-Lines and any mistreatment or injury could 
very quickly lead to a major diplomatic confrontation. This leniency 
over escape fits in with the overall attitude of the government to allow 
the internees the maximum latitude possible, although the Department 
of Defence was very much of the opinion that this severely restricted the 
military’s ability to contain the internees. Colonel McNally and his staff 
saw their task in simple terms: to guard the internees and prevent them 
from escaping the camp, and the use of live ammunition was a logical 
extension of this. However, External Affairs had a much broader view 
of the situation, having to integrate Ireland’s relationship with the bellig-
erents into its duties as a neutral. Invariably, when these two clashed, 
de Valera almost always opted to preserve Ireland’s relationship with the 
Allies, no doubt calculating that neutrality would be easier to maintain if 
good relations were preserved with the warring nations.
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On 13 August 1945, 254 of the German internees left the Curragh and 
boarded a British warship docked in Dublin port to return to their 
homes.1 Having been given a 48-hour parole to tie up their personal 
affairs in Ireland, 12 of the internees did not report back and went on 
the run from the Irish authorities. The descriptions and known associ-
ates list circulated to the Gardaí searching for these men shows just how 
close they and civilians who corresponded with them were watched by 
both the police and G2, and the names of those whom the internees were 
‘friendly with’ were listed along with their addresses. The Gardaí were 
instructed that the power to arrest them derived from Emergency Powers 
Order no.170, the emergency legislation created to intern the men in 
the first place.2 Four of these were eventually granted leave to remain in 
Ireland,3 the other eight were recaptured and handed over to the British 
forces in Northern Ireland, the last being transferred in April 1946.4 
Remarkably, two of the men were reportedly caught in the grounds of the 
house of Mark Killilea, TD for Galway East;5 when no action was taken 
against Killilea, the government came under pressure in the Dáil from 
independent TD James Dillon. After being pressed by Dillon, Minister 
for Justice Gerald Boland admitted that he was not ‘saying it is a proper 
course of conduct’ to hide fugitives from the police, but said that, in his 
opinion, there was no need to pursue a prosecution.6 Shortly after the 
Germans had left, Oliver Flanagan asked de Valera if they had been sent 
home at the request of the British government. The Taoiseach, no doubt 
glad to be rid of them, even only if it meant that Flanagan would cease 
questioning the government about its internment policy, replied that 
they had been repatriated ‘In accordance with international practice’ but 
that ‘Arrangements had to be made with the British authorities for their 
transport, and for their entry into Germany’.7 In a way, this represented 
the internment policy as a whole: outwardly modelled on international 
precedents, but actually dependant on the Allies in its implementation.

The Irish belligerent internment policy during the Second World 
War needs to be viewed within the broader context of Irish concessions 
towards the Allies. Because it was anchored within neutrality – it would 
not have existed if Eire had not been neutral – the internment regime 
was heavily geared towards cooperating with the Allies, as neutrality 
was as a whole. It is well known that the de Valera government was 
willing to cooperate in minor matters with the Allies, while refusing 
to grant more public concessions such as the use of Irish ports or the 
expulsion of Axis representatives. Repeated landings and incursions by 
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British aircraft in the early days of the war were ignored and it was not 
until August 1940 that the government – reluctantly – detained the first 
belligerent airmen. Even when Dublin was forced into a more balanced 
stance during 1940–41, some British pilots were interned but many more 
British aircraft, fliers and sailors were still released after making landfall 
in Eire. The entry of the United States into the war moved Ireland even 
closer to the Allies and started the process whereby Dublin’s internment 
system eventually shifted to one which operated solely against Germany. 
No document has yet been found which suggests the decision to release 
all American aircraft came about because of representations or pressure 
from Washington; it appears to have been a purely Irish decision, made 
to pre-empt any adverse reaction from America. The distinction between 
‘operational’ and ‘non-operational’ flights which allowed this to happen 
was a cover for a policy which was already in operation, as it was only 
agreed between Joseph Walshe and David Gray in late 1942. US aircraft 
had been landing in Ireland since July and none had been detained by 
the time of the Walshe – Gray discussions. As Dwight Meares has found, 
all European neutrals found ways to tailor their internment regimes to 
favour the Allies as the war went on, and Ireland was no exception.8

The figures speak for themselves. According to the government’s own 
calculations, 39 American aircraft and 275 American aircrew landed or 
crashed in Ireland and all were released. There is evidence that nine US 
sailors were rescued and returned by Irish ships. No further details about 
this have been unearthed in the archives, but it provides an interesting 
contrast to the fate of the German sailors rescued by the Kerlogue. One 
hundred and three British aircraft and 453 aircrew landed in Irish terri-
tory or Irish waters; of this total 159 were killed, 31 were interned, along 
with a few from Canada, New Zealand, Poland and France, and the rest 
were promptly returned. By way of contrast, 16 German aircraft and  
80 aircrew landed in Ireland; of these, 54 were interned for the duration 
of the war and a further 24 were killed during their initial crashes.9 One 
was recaptured after escape and was handed over the British; another 
was permitted to return to Germany having spent over two years in Irish 
hospitals, after he was critically injured when his aircraft crashed.10 The 
internment of the 164 sailors in January 1944 and the crew of U-260 
only added further weight to the pro-Allied bias inherent in the system. 
Presented with figures like these, it is hard to disagree with Robert Fisk 
when he describes Irish ‘collusion’ with the Allies regarding belligerent 
internment.11
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Dublin could, and did, claim that there was room within international 
regulations to justify the release of Allied pilots, or that Ireland was 
simply following European precedent. The lack of precise rules concern-
ing internment and the fact that they were drafted largely before aircraft 
became a major factor in warfare meant that neutral countries could 
interpret them as they required or as their individual circumstances 
dictated. There was even a reasonable argument to suggest that Ireland 
was allowed to intern the German sailors in 1944. De Valera was happy 
to respect international law when it worked in Ireland’s favour: when 
pressed by the Department of Defence to staunch the flow of Irish men 
and women joining the British forces in mid-1941, the cabinet took no 
action, noting that according to the International Convention Concerning 
the Rights and Duties of Neutral Powers and Persons in War on Land, a 
neutral would not be held responsible if its citizens ‘cross the frontier 
individually to offer their services to one of the belligerents’.12 However, 
in two respects Dublin departed from neutral practice and in so doing 
undermined its own claims to being a genuinely neutral country during 
the war. While the release of the bulk of the Allied pilots in October 1943 
could be defended as a retrospective application of the non-operational 
rule, the release of the remaining 11 in June 1944 cannot, and was based 
entirely on a need to maintain a cordial relationship with the Allies. 
There was no suggestion of an equal number of Germans being released 
in 1944, nor any attempt to categorise it as a neutral act. As the External 
Affairs note said, it was designed as ‘a friendly gesture’ towards the Allies, 
with no regard for balance or international law. It marked the final stage 
in the evolution of the Irish internment policy towards an undisguised 
pro-Allied stance.

The second was the decision to deny German prisoners of war entry 
to Eire when escaping from Northern Ireland. While the right of the 
Dublin government to regulate immigration and control the illegal 
entry of foreigners is undisputed, the decision on German escapers can 
still be characterised as an action at odds with neutrality. Faced with a 
set of unpalatable scenarios regarding escaping German prisoners, the 
de Valera government simply changed the rules before the game had 
ended. Classifying escapers as aliens rather than prisoners of war and 
using peacetime legislation to exclude them from Irish territory was a 
calculated attempt to avoid Ireland’s duties as a neutral. Providing refuge 
for escaping prisoners of war might have prompted more to seek sanctu-
ary in Eire, and any large body of German personnel loose in Ireland 
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would have had considerable international repercussions for Dublin. De 
Valera had already incurred the wrath of the Allied governments and 
public for not expelling Axis diplomats in February 1944, and acting as 
a safe harbour for escaping German prisoners would undoubtedly have 
further tarnished Ireland’s international reputation. In this, as is so many 
aspects of the belligerent internment policy, diplomatic considerations 
were the overriding priority.

But this justification, rational though it is, should not allow the de 
Valera government to escape criticism. Although Dublin kept its hands 
clean by not returning the few escapers directly to the British authori-
ties, shoving them across the border into Northern Ireland, where they 
would almost certainly be recaptured, was tantamount to returning 
them to their captor – a decidedly unneutral act. The secrecy in which 
Dublin cloaked this decision, keeping it out of the media as well as the 
Dáil and thus shielding it from both public and political scrutiny, shows 
that de Valera knew that he was on dangerous ground. He was fortunate 
in 1945 that he was leading a Fianna Fáil government with an overall 
majority and did not have to explain his decisions to political partners; 
by way of contrast, the Swedish wartime coalition threatened to break up 
over German demands to send troops across Swedish territory in 1941.13 
It is decisions and acts such those concerning Allied pilots and German 
prisoners of war that lend credence to Trevor Salmon’s argument that the 
Irish position during the war was not one of neutrality, but can best be 
described as non-belligerency.14

The bias clearly visible at the top level of internment was not repli-
cated on the ground in K-Lines and subsequent belligerent camps in 
Ireland. The treatment offered to each group of internees was scru-
pulously fair, which is in contrast to the situation within Spain: for 
instance, different nationalities were given varying treatment within the 
Miranda de Ebro camp.15 On the whole, however, conditions within the 
Irish belligerent camps were much the same as in others across neutral 
Europe, and the archival evidence shows that External Affairs consist-
ently looked abroad for guidelines when framing policy on day-to-day 
issues. Accounts from Switzerland shows that military internees were 
offered parole, were loosely confined, allowed to interact with civilians 
and were provided with employment if they desired. The one signifi-
cant difference was that the Swiss did not apply the 1929 convention 
to belligerent airmen, meaning that the penalty for attempted escape 
in Switzerland was far harsher than in Ireland. But, for the most part, 



Conclusion

DOI: 10.1057/9781137446039.0008

belligerent internment in Ireland was very similar to other European 
neutrals. Life in the Curragh, even though it could be boring, cold and 
uncomfortable, was nothing like the life of a prisoner of war and should 
not be compared to one.

When dealing with prisoners of war held abroad, Irish or otherwise, 
Dublin adopted the appropriate attitude. External Affairs argued – 
correctly – that Ireland could not be responsible for the welfare or 
representation of Irish citizens who had freely chosen to join the forces 
of a belligerent, and insisted throughout the war that Ireland could not 
support Irish personnel captured by the Axis. Despite sporadic efforts 
to intervene on behalf of individual prisoners, Dublin was hampered 
by the fact that it had no legal standing to assist Irish prisoners and the 
Irish diplomatic network was very small at the time. When veterans, 
former prisoners of war amongst them, returned to Ireland after 1945, 
the government did not offer them any special concessions or facilities. 
Instead, it cooperated closely with the British government to ensure 
that all veterans received the benefits of their service from Britain. For 
instance, de Valera sanctioned special medical boards in Dublin and 
Cork, consisting of two local doctors, a British Ministry of Pensions 
doctor and a Finance Officer from Northern Ireland, to assess the health 
of returned Irish prisoners and to determine what benefits would be 
paid to them.16 In addition, if they required medical aid, they would be 
cared for in Irish hospitals, paid for by the British government, or offered 
hospital places in Northern Ireland.

The main area in which Dublin was extremely lax was in its attitude 
towards the sending of prisoner parcels from Ireland. It should have 
been obvious to the government that some form of mail service to 
prisoners of war abroad was required, given the large number of Irish 
in the British forces even before the war broke out. The fact that it took 
until 1943 to sanction a free parcel scheme is a reflection of the sluggish-
ness with which the government moved. Boland was correct when he 
acknowledged – belatedly – that Eire had a moral duty to provide such 
a scheme, even if the government had not ratified the 1929 convention. 
The delay caused unnecessary distress to many Irish families who also 
had to bear the cost of sending next-of-kin packages for the majority of 
the war.

In conclusion, the de Valera government during the Second World 
War followed a convoluted strategy of partially implementing, partly 
ignoring and sometimes bypassing international law and regulations 
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regarding military internees and prisoners of war. In some aspects, 
Ireland was a model neutral; in others, realpolitik dictated the jettisoning 
of whole sections of international convention. A policy of precise and 
textbook neutrality was incompatible with de Valera’s public promise in 
1935 not to allow Irish territory to be used to attack Britain; therefore 
the government consistently prioritised the relationship with the Allies 
when the two issues clashed. Michael Rynne consoled himself and Joseph 
Walshe that Ireland was ‘not breaking but making international law’17 
by adopting an extremely flexible attitude towards belligerent intern-
ment, but it that was a long way from the ‘strict neutrality’ that the Irish 
minister in the Vatican was reminded to project in June 1941. De Valera’s 
inconsistent approach to neutrality during the Second World War was 
the beginning of many years of governmental ambiguity towards what 
actually constituted Irish neutrality and how it applied to the post-war 
world.
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